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--- On commencing at 9:31 a.m.

MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, everybody.  Welcome to the technical conference for the IESO fees case.  This is Board number EB-2008-0340.  My name is Michael Millar.  I am counsel for Board Staff.  I'm joined today by Mr. Robert Caputo.

Maybe we will start by doing appearances, and then I will turn things over to Mr. Zacher.
Appearances:


MR. ZACHER:  My name is Glenn Zacher, counsel for the IESO, and with me to the left, far left, Darren Finkbeiner; next to Darren, Bill Van Veghel, Ted Leonard, Nicholas Ingman, Donald Tench, John Rattray, Susan Nicholson, and Paula Lukan.  When introduce the panels, we can more formally introduce people.

MR. MILLAR:  Why don't we just go around the room?  I ask, when you register an appearance, you could let us know if you will actually be asking questions or not.

MR. PASUMARTY:  I am Dev Pasumarty from Electricity Distributors Association.

MR. WIGHTMAN:  James Wightman on behalf of Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.  

MR. TRAVERS:  Scott Travers, Society of Engineers.

MR. HAYES:  James Hayes, counsel for Society of Energy Professionals, and with me is Richard Long, as well, and I doubt that we will be asking questions.  

MR. BARR:  I'm David Barr with Ontario Power Generation.

MS. GRICE:  Shelly Grice, consultant working with AMPCO.

MR. FAYE:  Peter Faye, representing Energy Probe and, a little later, David MacIntosh from Energy Probe will also be joining us.

MR. COWAN:  Allan Cowan, Hydro One Networks.  I am not planning to ask any questions.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, is that everybody?  Unless I am mistaken, the only parties that prefiled questions, though that technically wasn't required, were Staff, VECC and Mr. Fraser.  Did anybody else plan to ask questions?

Okay, thank you.  Mr. Zacher, did you want to introduce your panel? 

MR. ZACHER:  Sure.  I just start off with a few thank yous. First of all, thanks again to Board Staff and the Board for agreeing to the technical conference in lieu of an interrogatories format, as well.

Thank you to all of the intervenors who did provide specific questions in advance or who did talk to staff at the IESO.  That helped a lot in terms of making sure that we have the right people here to answer questions.

The first panel that we have is composed, on the far left, of Darren Finkbeiner, who is the manager of regulatory affairs.  I'm sorry, I'm sorry, he's manager operational analysis and readiness. 

Next to him, Bill Van Veghel, manager human relations compensation and benefits; Ted Leonard director of finance; and Nicholas Ingman, manager of regulatory affairs.

As we proposed in a letter that we circulated earlier this week, this will be the panel for issue number 1, which is operating costs, and issue number 6, which is reliability, and then subsequently we will just have one panel for the balance of the issues.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Zacher.

What I would propose to do, unless Mr. Wightman or Mr. Faye are in a big hurry, is Staff will start, and then you gentlemen can follow, unless you have any objection to that?

MR. FAYE:  Okay.

MR. ZACHER:  If I could add one thing?  Sorry, I apologize.  A couple of the issues, it may be helpful for panel members to just give a very brief introduction with regards to matters that have evolved since the time of the filing.

So, in particular, on this panel it might be helpful if Mr. Finkbeiner just gave a brief introduction with regards to reliability matters.

MR. MILLAR:  Sure.

MR. ZACHER:  Then on subsequent panels, Mr. Tench will talk about how the EDAC process has evolved.  Mr. Leonard will talk about asset-backed commercial paper, and Mr. Ingman will discuss the smart metering initiative.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  

So did you want to lead that introduction to the reliability issue?
INDEPENDENT ELECTRICITY SYSTEM OPERATOR - PANEL 1

Darren Finkbeiner


Bill Van Veghel


Ted Leonard


Nicholas Ingman
Issue 6: Reliability

Presentation by Mr. Finkbeiner:

MR. FINKBEINER:  Thank you.

Good morning, everyone.  As you know and as we state in our business plan, reliability is really our responsibility to ensure.

I am happy to say in 2008 our performance was, again, very well received and we continue the strongest tradition of excellence in this regard.  

The IESO's reliability initiatives continue to be well received by the industry.  We have had a successful audit of the reliability standards within the IESO from NPCC and our NERC colleagues.

We have had continuous recognition of the positive feedback of our 18-month outlooks and OROs, and our participants through a recent survey continue to recognize our excellence in this area through the customer surveys that we conduct.

Reliability, however, on the integrated power system is not something that we can do alone.  It takes a lot of cooperation and team work.  And, quite frankly, I would like to thank everybody in the room who helps us maintain the reliability of the system through your strong efforts and your businesses contributing to your elements of reliability as generators, transmitters, customers and the like.

As we go forward, 2009, we are going to continue our strong emphasis on reliability, as you would expect.  And as everybody knows, we're in the midst of the largest infrastructure redevelopment in the history of Ontario.

Change is certainly at the forefront of 2009 for the IESO, and we're looking at a vast number of initiatives that will continue to evolve our forecasting, analytical and operational processes to meet the supply mix of Ontario.

Some of these things include things like area or regional transmission studies that we're doing, operational assessments and analysis that are embracing renewable resources and the new supply mix for Ontario, making sure that we have what we need to ensure that the system remains in a reliable state, assessing and connecting market participants, many of which are new to the industry in Ontario, a lot of which are new to the businesses of the electricity sector, like the emerging wind and other technologies that are coming that we read about in the papers every day.

We also continue educating and working with our market participants so they can continue to provide strong reliability performance that contributes to the overall reliability of the grid.

That's really the brief introduction I was going to provide, and if you have any questions, I will take those directly now, if you wish.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  I don't think Staff actually has any reliability questions.  We do have some operating cost questions.

Did anyone have reliability questions?  Maybe we should do those first.
Questions by Mr. Wightman:

MR. WIGHTMAN:  James Wightman.  I don't know if it was a reliability question.  I just -- I stuck a question in under the reliability thing, because you had referred to the satisfaction of customers, and all of this kind of stuff, and you had referred, on B1, tab 1, schedule 1, page 5 - this was a prefiled question - that -- you made reference to the most recent customer survey.  

I just wondered if it had been filed or if we could see the results of it.  It may not be reliability or it may incorporate it.  I don't know.

MR. INGMAN:  I can answer that one.  That's not a problem.

No, the IESO doesn't file the survey, the customer survey as referenced, as you pointed out with the Board.  However, it does post it on the IESO's website, and we do that under the NPV survey page on the corporate website, and it is under performance measures, if you look at the left-hand menu.  

And the latest one that is filed is the 2007, which is the one that is referenced within our business plan, as you had referenced in your question.

And the results for 2008 survey are going to be presented to the next SAC in February.  So that is our approach; we post on our website.

MR. WIGHTMAN:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Faye, did you have anything on reliability?

MR. FAYE:  No, thank you.  Nothing on that.
Issue 1: Operating Costs

Questions by Mr. Millar:

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Why don't we move to operating costs, and I will start.

Staff prefiled its questions, so I imagine you have had an opportunity to review them.

I don't propose to read the preamble that we have put in.  I think everyone is familiar with that, and so I will move straight to the questions.

The first question relates to administrative costs.  The reference would be from your 2009-2011 business plan, which is Exhibit B, tab 1, schedule 1, and I am looking at page 27.

Our first question is:  Can you confirm that the administration costs are expected to increase by about 12 percent in 2009 and at an average annual rate of between 5 -- of about 5 percent between 2008 and 2011?  Did we get the math right on that?  

MR. LEONARD:  In terms of -- yes, certainly the increase for 2009, it appears your math is correct.  The increase for 2010 is 100,000 on 7.6 million.  I certainly don't think that is 5 percent.

MR. MILLAR:  I think we said the average annual rate of approximately 5 percent between 2008 and 2011.  Does that sound about right?  

MR. LEONARD:  Sure, that's correct.  

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thanks.  

On page 29 you address at least part of that increase, and what you state is that the increase is primarily due to higher NPCC, NERC membership costs of approximately a million dollars.

Is there anything else, any other cost drivers under administration that exceed 3 percent, year over year?  And if so, can you describe them?  

MR. LEONARD:  Yes.  There's one other area where there is an increase of greater than 3 percent, and that's in respect of rent.  From 2008 to 2009 we have budgeted an increase of 200,000, or about 12 percent.  I'm doing the math in my head.  And that relates to just inflation, in terms of the rent in our rental agreements.

And secondly, for our backup -- for our backup operating centre there were some electrical upgrades that were undertaken, that the costs started to flow-through to us in October 2008, so we will have a full year of those costs in 2009.  All of the other administrative costs are budgeted in 2009 to be the same as 2008 or less.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  On the rent issue, these are all existing premises that you occupy?  These aren't new buildings?  

MR. LEONARD:  That's correct. 

MR. MILLAR:  These are just increases in the rent that you are paying?  

MR. LEONARD:  That's correct. 

MR. MILLAR:  Were the leases up, or were these just scheduled increases?  

MR. LEONARD:  Scheduled increases.  

MR. MILLAR:  And did you say 12 percent -- did I get that right -- approximately?  

MR. LEONARD:  It's not -- it isn't 12 percent increase in the rental fee, per se, for the space.  The biggest increment of that, as I mentioned, is in respect of the electrical upgrades, so some of the services that were provided at our backup operating facility.  

MR. MILLAR:  And the rental agreement provided that you paid at least a portion of that?

MR. LEONARD:  Yes.  

MR. MILLAR:  And just to make sure I heard the numbers correct, you said the increase was about $200,000? 

MR. LEONARD:  Yes.  

MR. MILLAR:  And is that from '08 to '09?  

MR. LEONARD:  Yes, that's correct.  

MR. MILLAR:  And do you have figures for '09 to '10?  

MR. LEONARD:  The 2010 forecast is consistent with the 2009 budgeted amount for rent of 1.7 million. 

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So no increases?  

MR. LEONARD:  There's no increase subsequent to that.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  

MR. LEONARD:  And in fact, just to clarify, in terms of our backup operating facility, it is not a rental facility.  It is a managed service facility.  

So we don't -- we don't solely rent the space.  It's provided in case of backup operations being necessary.

MR. MILLAR:  Oh, I see.

MR. LEONARD:  We do have some dedicated space, but it isn't, per se, a rental facility.

MR. MILLAR:  So you don't occupy the whole building all the time.  

MR. LEONARD:  No. 

MR. MILLAR:  But it's there if you happen to need it?  

MR. LEONARD:  Yes, that's correct.  

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you for that.  

No other increases over 3 percent under administration?

MR. LEONARD:  No.  

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I would like to move on to an exhibit we provided you from the Hydro One transmission case.  It is Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 41, from file number EB-2008-0272.  Last night, in fact, you filed an update, I believe, and I understand you may have some introductory remarks.  You have a response prepared, in any event.  

Why don't I start just by giving these some exhibit numbers so that we can keep them clear.  Unfortunately, the update and the original have the same -- they look identical on the front page.  

So the only way -- you don't get to the difference until, I think, page 3 of 3.  The final page is where the difference occurs.  

So I am not sure exactly how we keep these straight.  I've just marked mine by hand.  But let's give them exhibit numbers.  We will call the original Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 41, we will call that KT1.1.  
EXHIBIT NO. KT1.1:  ORIGINAL EXHIBIT I, TAB 1, SCHEDULE 41, FROM EB-2008-0272.

MR. MILLAR:  And the updated version will be KT1.2.  
EXHIBIT NO. KT1.2:  UPDATED EXHIBIT I, TAB 1, SCHEDULE 41, FROM EB-2008-0272.

MR. MILLAR:  I understand that was filed with the Board yesterday.  However, the date at the top still shows December 23rd, 2008.  

So why don't I just ask the question we have here.  And I understand you may be able to walk us through some of the new data we have here.  

And the question is as follows:  Can you confirm that from the period 1999 to 2008 Society staff wages at the IESO increased by 33 percent?

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  In terms of salary schedule increases, that's correct.  In terms of what people actually -- or employees actually get paid, that isn't the case.  But in terms of escalation of salary -- in salary schedules between those two dates, the 33 percent is correct.  

MR. MILLAR:  And if we look at the chart, in fact, either one -- I am looking at page 3 of 3 of -- the one I am looking at is KT1.2 -- it shows pretty much across the board IESO increases to be 33 percent, whereas for Hydro One, OPG, and Bruce Power, the other old Ontario Hydro companies, it is either 13 percent or 15 percent. 

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  And those require some clarification.  

First of all, in terms of looking at this exhibit and looking at the PWU increases for the two jobs that were included, we're in agreement with the findings there.  

In terms of the CEO compensation, we're in agreement that the public-sector salary disclosure did provide for these amounts.  

In terms of the Society, while -- from a technical perspective, these numbers are correct.  They do leave a misleading impression.  

What these -- what this data purports to show is the maximums that are available to be paid to people at a point in time.  

In 1999, when -- in 1999, all of the companies, the four companies mentioned, had a similar system, and it was a performance-based compensation system, and that compensation system was centred on what I would call a journeyman rate.  We called 100 percent pay level, which is the rate that you would pay for a person who is fully capable of doing the job.  

The plan allowed for payment below that journey-person rate for people coming in, newly coming into the job, and growing and learning and as their competencies and their performance grew.  It also allowed for payments above that journey rate position.

And so the figures for 1999 are the very maximum that was available to be paid.  And they are the same -- they were the same for all companies.  

In 2008, the IESO still has the same performance-based system, and the figure that is shown is the very top maximum amount.  The other three companies have changed their compensation system.  Through collective bargaining they have come up with a time-based progression system, whereby a new employee coming into the position starts at a much lower level and on an annual basis receives a salary progression up to what I would call the journey-person position.  

So the comparison that is given is the very maximum that's available on a performance-based system at the IESO, and it's a comparison of the very maximum that was available in 1999 for the other three companies to what is now the journey-person level in those companies.  

And in terms of doing that, for example, it may lead to a misleading understanding, because, for example, at the IESO in the MMP2, at the level shown in 2008, there is -- there are no employees that are at that level.

In the MMP4 grade, at the maximum level shown in 2008, there are no employees there.  In MMP6, at the very maximum that is shown there, there is one employee.  

So it provides a misleading look at it, if what you're looking at is comparing escalation in rates from 1999 to 2008.

In fact, if you actually look and do the comparisons on a comparable standardized format, what I had mentioned earlier, the journeyperson type of rates, what you would find is that all four companies are approximately equal in terms of their increases, and they're all in the very low 30 percents.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you for that.  There was a lot of information there, so let me back up on some of it.  I want to make sure I have it clear.

I take it that for all four companies, there is something called a journeyman rate; is that right?

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  There is a rate -- there is a rate that we would consider in the business as a journeyperson rate.  It's not entitled that, per se.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  But, for example, on the performance-based compensation plan, it's what we would consider to be the 100 percent rate.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  In the time progression, it is what would be the top level that people would progress to.

MR. MILLAR:  And what used to be the case prior to 2007 is that all of the four -- or at least Hydro One and the IESO would pay above the 100 percent rate in certain circumstances; isn't that correct?

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  If performance warranted it on a consistent basis, that is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Was that an annual incentive-type payment, or was that a base salary adjustment?

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  That was an adjustment which then became part of their base salary.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So if you have got 110 percent in year one, year two you would still get -- that would be your new base, would be 110 percent?

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  That would be the new base for evaluation for the next year, that is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  So it may be based on merit, but it is not, strictly speaking, an annual incentive payment?

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  It is not an annual incentive payment.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  What happened in 2007 is that through collective bargaining, Hydro One reduced the -- for new employees, in any event, eliminated the payments above 100 percent.  You could only earn up to 100 percent?

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  For new employees coming in, that's correct.  For employees that were above 100 percent, they were what's termed green circled.

What that meant was that they maintain their position and received the salary -- the salary schedule adjustments, in addition to that.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  But they can't go over the 100 percent anymore, which is why you see their current maximum, at least for new employees, is a good $20,000 lower than yours for the MP6?

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.

Again, by way of background, how many Society employees do you have, approximately?  I think you have 422 employees.  How many of them are Society?

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  286 --

MR. MILLAR:  So just over half?

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  -- as of the beginning of this year.

MR. MILLAR:  Again, to follow up on some of your comments, again, just to make sure I got it right, you stated that under the MP2 classification, you currently have no employees who make the full $103,000; is that correct?

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Do you know how many make more than 100 percent?

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  I don't have those figures with me.

MR. MILLAR:  It would be more than zero?

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  I'm sorry?

MR. MILLAR:  It would be more than zero?

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  It would be more than zero, that is correct.

Just maybe to help you a bit, if we stand back and look at all of our MMP staff that are Society represented and we look at it from the point of view of where they sit in that range that I referred to, on average, it's about 96 percent.

MR. MILLAR:  That's for all three categories?

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  That's for all performance-paid employees at the IESO who belong to the Society.

MR. MILLAR:  And are all Society members in either MP2, MP4 or MP6?

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  No, they are not.  There is -- there are people in MP3 and MP5, also.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Do you know how many are in MP2, ballpark?

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  I don't off the top of my head.

MR. MILLAR:  What is the largest single --

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  MP4.

MR. MILLAR:  MP4, okay.  Let's move to that, then.  You may have said it, but if you did, I missed it.  How many MP4 employees are earning at the maximum?

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  Zero.

MR. MILLAR:  At zero, okay.

Again, I take it there are at least some who are more than 100 percent?

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And do they average 96 percent in MP4?

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  I can't say that that is the case at MP4.  I don't have that figure in front of me, but the full range of people in MMP are at 96 percent.

MR. MILLAR:  Do you have an idea how many MP4 employees there are?

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  I may have jotted something down here.  Just a second.

Actually, I do have the data jotted down here.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  For MP4, there are 137 employees.  And, as of the end of 2008, their index standing was 94 percent.

MR. MILLAR:  So that's about half of your Society professionals are in MP4, 137 of 286?

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  Approximately.

MR. MILLAR:  A little bit less than half?

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  A little bit less, that is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  You don't happen to know how many of them are at over 100 percent, but you do know the average is 94 percent?

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  Yes.  I don't know how many are over 100 percent, no.

MR. MILLAR:  Again, under MP6 I think you said one person earns the maximum?

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  One person earns the maximum, that's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Do you know how many MP6 employees there are?

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  There are 14.

MR. MILLAR:  Fourteen.  Just to follow up, do you have the figures for MP2, actually?

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  Yes, I do.  There are 40 employees.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  And the index as of the end of 2008 was 85 percent for MP2 and 106 for the MP6.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So the average is over 100 percent for the MP6s?

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  For the MP6, that is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.

You mentioned that the Hydro One, OPG and Bruce employees have eliminated the above 100 percent through collective bargaining.

First, let me ask, when are your collective bargaining agreements up with the Society and the Power Workers?

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  With the Power Workers, our current contract ends on March 31st of 2009.  And for the Society, the current contract ends as of December 31st, 2009.

MR. MILLAR:  So they're both up this year?

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  They're both up this year, that is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  I want to be careful with questions like this, because I know you can only say so much about what you are planning for collectively bargaining, but let me just ask you this.

To the extent that you can answer this, do you think what Hydro One, OPG and Bruce have done is, generally speaking, a good idea, to eliminate the payments over 100 percent?

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  Well, certainly when we go into bargaining, we'll look at all of the trends that are happening out there, including this, and factor it into our agenda.

We are a strong proponent at the IESO of performance as a driver, and having a performance-based compensation system is a very strong supportive tool in terms of helping us meet our objective of rewarding people for performance and for demonstrating competencies.

So that's a very strong objective for us.  We obviously will look at all of the items that are of importance from a business perspective, when we go into bargaining, and we'll have to make some trade-offs potentially in bargaining.  Just how that will come out, I just don't know at this point.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, that's fair enough.  As we discussed before, this isn't, strictly speaking, an incentive payment.  Are there incentive payments on top of this or separately, or are there no, strictly speaking, incentive payments?

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  Within the Society group, no.  This is it.

MR. MILLAR:  This replaces incentive, if I can --

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  Well, it is the only performance-based compensation tool that we have.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, fair enough.

I think I am almost finished.  You will recall it is something of an annual tradition for me to wave around that Towers Perrin study, and you will be happy to hear I am not going to do that this year

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  Oh, good.

MR. MILLAR:  But I would ask you this.  Am I right in saying that in every year since the Towers Perrin study, salary -- pardon me, total compensation has gone up?  It might not be much, but it's gone up in every year since that study was produced?  

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  You're referring back to the 2006 study?  

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I believe it is dated 2006. 

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  Compensation, in general, has gone up.  In terms of individuals, they're treated individually.  But in general, they have gone up. 

MR. MILLAR:  Overall compensation has gone up since that time?  

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  That's correct. 

MR. MILLAR:  What does the IESO think -- is it time for a new compensation study?  Are you happy with where you are in Towers Perrin?  Is there any utility to having a new study?  

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  We regularly do compensation salary reviews.  And in terms of that, what we have found is that our, for example, our management staff are being -- are compensated at below median at this point in time.  

The PWU, when we went into -- while we're preparing the information, we found that their overall compensation has drifted to below the 75th percentile.  We have not undertaken a recent study on the Society side.  

MR. MILLAR:  Are you able to produce any data to back up those figures?  

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  We can produce that.  

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So I will give that an undertaking, if there are no objections.  That will be JT1.1.  
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.1:  TO PRODUCE DATA TO BACK UP FIGURES.

MR. MILLAR:  And, I'm sorry, you said you hadn't done one for the Society?  

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  No, that's correct.  

MR. MILLAR:  And just to get back to my question -- you may have answered it, but does the IESO see any utility in doing a complete compensation study for -- 

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  Well, our compensation approach is pretty complete, quite frankly.  We look at compensation from a base salary perspective, from a total cash perspective, and a total remuneration perspective, and we do it quite -- and we carry them out quite regularly for our management group.  We do it on an annual basis, and it is reviewed by our board members on an annual basis.  And for our unionized groups, we do it prior to bargaining and review the results with our board prior to bargaining.  

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So your answer is "no"?  

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  Yes.  

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.  

Okay.  Thank you, gentlemen.  Those are my questions on that.  

Mr. Wightman, did you want to go next?

MR. ZACHER:  Mr. Millar, just to clarify one thing.  I didn't want to interrupt, but you had asked about what other incentive-based pay there was, and Mr. Van Veghel indicated there wasn't, and I -- one point of clarity is that a couple of the other comparator organizations in that, in the exhibit, I believe OPG and Bruce Power certainly still provide for bonuses for Society employees that are in those wage-level categories.  

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you for that clarification.  

Mr. Wightman?  
Questions by Mr. Wightman:


MR. WIGHTMAN:  Thank you.  We provided our pre-filed questions earlier in the week.  I wondered if you'd received them, on behalf of VECC.

Okay.  Well, I think it would probably be a good idea not to read the preamble on the first question.  

Does the preamble -- as Part A asks, is our understanding of what went on correct?  

MR. LEONARD:  Yes.  Yes, Mr. Wightman, your understanding is correct.  I might refer you to an updated filing the IESO made yesterday --  

MR. WIGHTMAN:  Okay.  

MR. LEONARD:  -- of our 2008 -- of our actual 2008 results.  

MR. WIGHTMAN:  Okay.  Thank you.  

MR. LEONARD:  Which is Exhibit B, tab 8, schedule 1.

And in that exhibit we outline that the total costs for the year were 130 million, against a budget of 135.5 million, for a total annual variance of 5.5 million.

The two areas where the IESO came in under budget, one was in our OM&A program costs, which was 1.7 million under budget, and the other was amortization, which came in at 8.5 million under budget.  

So your question really was, was amortization driving that full positive variance, and the answer is "no".  The OM&A program costs also contributed to that.  

MR. WIGHTMAN:  Okay.  I will have a look at that.  

Did the fact that the capital budget was -- spending was below budget -- I assume on your update it was still below budget -- did that lower any amortization costs at all in the year?  

MR. LEONARD:  As I indicated, the amortization for the year was 8.5 million under budget, which was largely in line with what we had indicated in our business plan, in our forecasts.  So the actual costs came in at 20.8 million.  And the 2000 -- the variance, in terms of capital spend for 2008, had an impact of 400,000, or .4 million.  

MR. WIGHTMAN:  Okay.  I think you have answered C there.  And if you haven't, please let me know.  

MR. LEONARD:  No, I haven't.  

MR. WIGHTMAN:  Okay.  

MR. LEONARD:  I'm not sure if you want -- so in terms of C, the question really was, if it isn't -- our under-spending 2008 capital doesn't account for the full difference, what does.

MR. WIGHTMAN:  Yes.  

MR. LEONARD:  There is two things that contribute to that.  One is an under-spend, or a positive variance, in terms of our capital spending, that happened in 2007, that flowed through to 2008.  

And that had an impact of .6 million, which leaves a difference of approximately .9 million, and that in fact was the result of a budgeting error that we made in 2008.  It was the result of us having double-counted some of the impact of a service-life change that we made.  

It was solely a budgeting error, and had no impact on our operating results.  It has no impact on the 2009 budget.  And we have reviewed, certainly based on that finding, reviewed the details of our 2009 planning, and can provide assurance that a similar mistake was not made.  

MR. WIGHTMAN:  Okay.  Thank you.  

Now, you did change -- reduce amortization costs by revising end of life on some projects.  I understand that.

Question D asks -- and probably there isn't, but asks:  Is there any material opportunity to do that in 2009?  

MR. LEONARD:  None that we have identified at this time.  

MR. WIGHTMAN:  Okay.  That's fine, thanks.

Part E just asks, if you under-spent on capital by 5 million in the test year, that change alone, how much would that -- on average or pooled, because I know you could under-spend on different things, but just as some kind of a figure, how would that affect your amortization costs that are in your operating costs for 2009?  

MR. LEONARD:  If I can refer you to Exhibit B, tab 1, schedule 1, the business plan, page 37.  At the top of page 37 you can see that, under the 2009 column, there is existing assets and service.  The amortization is budgeted at 19.6 million.  For the new capital it is 2.8 million.  2.3 million of that new capital is that which was spent in 2008.  .5 million of that 2.8- related to the 2009 capital program.  

So if we were to reduce our capital program -- and I have just taken a proportionate reduction for all 
project -- it would reduce the budgeted amortization by .1 million.

MR. WIGHTMAN:  Thanks a lot for that.

Okay.  Question F I think you have largely covered with Board Staff, Mr. Millar covered.  

I just -- we found another exhibit in the Hydro One transmission filing.  That's EB-2008-0272.  And I have got a hard copy here.  I was just, before I came up, trying to find out if I could get it online.  But it's another Board Staff interrogatory.  And like I say, I can give you my hard copy here.

It's Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 19 in that proceeding.  The only reason I mention it is it appears, for Hydro One, to give average compensation and average incentives through the entire year, and I was wondering -- because you talked about, Well, not everybody is at the top here and the original exhibit that we've been talking about had maxima, and you do have a couple of people -- but I was wondering if you would be able to prepare - and I can give you this - a similar exhibit for the IESO for the -- giving average compensation levels and average incentive pay and incentive as percentage of base.

MR. ZACHER:  It might be helpful, Mr. Wightman, just to have a look at that exhibit.

MR. WIGHTMAN:  You may have it.

MR. ZACHER:  Sure.

[Witness panel confers with counsel]

MR. WIGHTMAN:  It's attachment 1, by the way, to that exhibit.

MR. ZACHER:  I wonder, Mr. Wightman -- and it may take a little more time to digest that document, so it might be necessary to revisit it after a break.  But the other thing is I think Mr. Van Veghel spoke to some of these issues earlier when Mr. Millar was asking questions.  

Maybe there is just a way you could ask questions -- ask the question in a more detailed way and it can be answered here as opposed to undertaking something.

MR. WIGHTMAN:  Well, like I say, I think what that just gets at is it doesn't deal with maxima or anything like that.  It just says, Well, here is what the averages are, and that's all.

But whatever you can do would be useful, if you want to think about it.

MR. ZACHER:  What exactly are you asking for?

MR. WIGHTMAN:  Well, I would -- I was asking if IESO would be able to prepare, for their Society and Power Workers' Union employees, a chart with similar information that Hydro One Transmission has provided with that exhibit I just handed, and if the answer is "no", that's one thing.  

But it just seems to me that would get at how have averages moved, et cetera, et cetera, that's all, rather than dealing with, These aren't schedule limits.  These are actual amounts.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  Well, maybe what we will do is we will look at it.  It's a pretty detailed chart.  We will look at it at the break and either we will get back to you later today or subsequently.

MR. WIGHTMAN:  I can assure you we wouldn't need all of the columns filled in.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay, okay.

MR. WIGHTMAN:  I guess, then, part G, I think Mr. Millar also touched on it, but I was rereading some old transcripts of IESO proceedings and I noticed there was benchmarking.  I think even in the last one, it was referred to in that.

I just wondered, is anything going on with that?  I think you may have answered it.  You talked about how you've done a study I think on the PWU and you haven't done the Society.  I don't know if you want to add anything to that, or not.  

It is just that the only place I found the word "benchmarking" in was in your annual report or your business plan, where you talked about benchmarking of asset returns.

So I am just wondering if -- what the status is.

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  In terms of your reference - and I think it's within our annual report that you make a reference to - those are salary survey comparisons that we carry out on a fairly regular basis.

And, as I mentioned earlier, we've updated those comparisons for 2008 for management staff and for PWU, and that is the latest available.  And, in our opinion, it 
is -- the exercise is very comprehensive.  

MR. WIGHTMAN:  Okay, thank you.  I think those are all of my questions.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Wightman.  Mr. Faye, did you have anything on O&M?
Questions by Mr. Faye:

MR. FAYE:  Yes, I do, thanks, Mr. Millar.  I want to just revisit a couple of things that Mr. Millar asked about and get some clarification.

When you were discussing the OM&A increased costs and you related that a large portion of that facilities increase was related to electrical upgrades for backup facilities, if my notes are correct, could you just elaborate on what that is?  What are the electrical upgrades?  What are the back-up facilities?

MR. LEONARD:  Mr. Faye, I am not sufficiently detailed, in terms of what exact work it was, in terms 
of -- and I am not trying to dodge the question.

The magnitude of increase we're talking is -- from one year to the next, including inflation, is $200,000.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So it is relatively inconsequential?

MR. LEONARD:  Yes, in terms of total cost envelope.  Although percentage wise it may be a big increase, in terms of absolute dollars, it is -- it is quite small.

MR. FAYE:  That's fine.  Thank you.

On the compensation issues -- and I am looking at the sheet that Board Staff have handed out, and that's I1, tab 1, schedule 41, page 3.  I just wanted to get some clarification on these management professionals categories.

Do you have a category lower than MP2 for management and professional employees?

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  There is a category of MP1, but 
it's -- at the IESO, it's not populated.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So I take it that MP2, then, would be an entry level position?

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  Within the IESO, our jobs are evaluated using a job evaluation plan and classified as such.

And for jobs that don't require the level of education, experience, difficulty, contacts, et cetera, those types of jobs -- well, there's a classification system, and they would be categorized as MP2 jobs, MP4 jobs, MP6 jobs.

But, typically, for example, an assistant engineer or that kind of a position, would be an MP2 job.

MR. FAYE:  If I understand you right, there would be other MP2 jobs that are not professional, for example, not engineers, not accountants, that might be employees with a long history of experience, but that the job demands just don't rate a higher ranking.  In other words, you don't have just new people, young graduates, in this category?

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  Primarily people who come in as graduates would typically apply to an MP2 position, because those are the positions that have the lower requirements to them.

Then as people acquire expertise and experience, and so on, they would apply to a more senior position, such as an MP4, and so on, to an MP6.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  For those that are not engineers, accountants, other recognized professions, that are in MP2, are they largely technical staff or are they largely supervisory staff?

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  There is facility for supervisory staff, but all of the people -- or all of the positions that are classified as an MMP are professional type of positions, not necessarily professional in the sense of having an engineering degree, but it could be IT, information technology.  It could be finance positions.  There could be a project management type of position, in terms of leading a project, for example.

There are a whole host of different attributes that are evaluated and come up with -- to come up with a rating for the position as MP2, MP4 or MP6.


MR. FAYE:  Just to give me sort of a real-world sense of the kind of position that falls into that category, where, for example, would a shift supervisor in the control room fall?  Is that an MP4, MP6, MP2?  What is that one?

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  Sorry, could you repeat that again?  

MR. FAYE:  I am trying to get a feel for something that I know from personal experience.  

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  Right. 

MR. FAYE:  A shift supervisor in your control room, what level was that job?  

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  The senior shift supervisory position in the control room is not in the Society.  It's in management.  We do have a senior position in the shift -- in the control room, and that's an MP5.  

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  And the control-room operators themselves, are they PWU or are they MMP?  

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  They would be MMP. 

MR. FAYE:  And what level were they?  

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  The journey-person MMP position would be about an MP4.  

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  You talked a little bit about the salary band, if I can call it that.  And the numbers that are in this chart refer to the top of the band.

Can you tell me how wide this band is?  

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  If we're looking at 2008 -- I don't have the 2009 data in front of me -- if I look at 2008 and I look at MP4, the maximum -- and I'm sorry, I apologize, I have to give it to you in weekly rates, because all our schedules are in weekly terms.  

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  The MP4 top rate in 2008 was $2,259.  The, what we call the reference point or the 100 percent is $1,965 per week, and the minimum is $1,572.

And from a broader -- okay.  From a broader conceptual perspective, basically the schedules are centred at 100 percent.  The top is 115 percent.  The bottom is 80 percent.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So then looking at the MP2 information -- again, assuming my notes are correct -- I think I heard you say they had 40 employees in the MP2, and the average was 85 percent.  So starting point on that schedule is 80 percent.

What should I conclude from the fact that the large majority of your employees haven't climbed very far up your salary schedule?  Is that that they're all new, they're not very good, or what?  

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  In the last year we have had a fair bit of turnover.  As we've indicated in the past, there is a significant amount of our employee body who are eligible to retire.  And what we experienced this year was a step up in the number of people who are retiring.  

We had a turnover of approximately 36 people in the IESO last year, which is a step up over previously.  And as a result of that, we have had a number of hires that have had to come in.  And as you may know, we have a strong co-op system, whereby we try to use that as a feed stock for -- for positions, and a number of them have gone into the MP2 position and are fairly junior.  

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  And the last question I have on that subject, if I understand what you said, MP2 is your entry-level position for graduate engineers, graduate accountants, possibly other professions, IT people.  

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  In many cases that is correct.  We do have what we call a grad hiring schedule, which allows people who aren't quite ready or aren't -- who aren't quite ready for a full-time MP2 position to go into a grad hire, which works its way up to an MP2.  

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So where I was going with this -- and I think you have guessed in advance -- is your initial starting salary for a freshly graduated engineer isn't $80,000, is it?  

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  It may or may not be.  I mean, it depends.  If we have a vacancy at an MP2 and we've posted the job and there isn't an internal person available and we go external, we will look to find who is the best candidate that we can fill that position with.  

And so they may go into MP2 at the very entry level, or in some cases they may end up going on to the, what we call the graduate hiring rate.  

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  That just brings one more question on the subject, sorry.  Does the PEO still run its annual salary survey?

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  I'm sorry? 

MR. FAYE:  Does the Professional Engineers Association still run its annual salary survey?

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  I haven't seen it in a couple of years, but my understanding is, yes, it does. 

MR. FAYE:  Do you compare your entry-level position to the categories in that survey to see if you're sort of within bounds with their survey?  

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  In the past we have broadly done that.  And basically, for example, we have looked at our MP4 as roughly equivalent to either a C- or a D-level engineer in the PEO survey.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  And so then the range -- if I factor your high figures here down by 15 percent, I'm going to get your mid-points, and --

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  I'm sorry?  

MR. FAYE:  Your mid-points are factorable just by dividing by 1.15 here.  I could get the 100 percent level for each of these, divide by 1.15, right?  But I don't think dollar-wise it's going to make a lot of difference.

If we just compare between these categories, from your entry-level job to your MP6, which I am presuming is a fairly significantly responsible position --

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  Yes, it is. 

MR. FAYE:  -- it is only $30,000.  Is there some salary compression here that gives you any cause for concern?  

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  If you are looking at comparing, for example, the journey-person position at the MP2 versus the MP6, your assertion is correct.  What typically happens, though, is that people will come in at an MP2 at the low journey-person.  They will start at somewhere in the 80 percent range.  

So that's -- and I don't have the figures in front of me.  But, for example -- I do have the figures in weekly.  At the MP2, a starting position at an 80 percent of MP2 is $1,039.  If you compare that to an MP6, who's at a 100 percent reference, that is $1,679.  And of course, having a performance-based system, there is facility to pay above that, up to the 115 percent.  

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  That is good.  Thank you.

I will move then just to the one question that we submitted in advance, and that is concerning Exhibit B, tab 1, schedule 1.  That's your business plan.  

Page 30 talks about pension costs.  And in there it notes that you have your own pension plan.  It also mentions that you have only 420 staff members.  

And I am wondering how efficient it is to try and run your own pension plan with just a small staff and obviously a smaller number of pensioners, and do you have opportunities to merge your plan with larger ones that would gain some economies of scale?  

MR. LEONARD:  To date, certainly the IESO has not looked to merge its plan with anyone else.  The -- although there has been -- we have been monitoring the recent report from the Ontario -- the Expert Commission on Pensions that issued a report in December that I'll suggest drew a similar conclusion, or did -- touched on the benefits of larger or multi-employer plans versus single-employer plans.  And, as I say, we haven't looked at joining plans.  We will monitor to see what goes on in terms of the industry.

The expert commission didn't really get into how you would actually go about doing it, and the -- the idea of merging plans would certainly have to be something we look at from the context of labour relations at the same point, that it is not -- there are risks that you are introducing to your business by merging plans for different employers.  

Certainly there are economies of scale on the asset side and likely on the administration, but you are introducing different risks if you are merging different plans and different organizations.  You are starting to take on some of their business risk, and, equally, they're taking on some of yours. 

So, no, to date we haven't looked to merge our plan, but we certainly will monitor to see what goes on in this domain and what the outcome of -- ultimately, what the province of Ontario decides to do with that expert commission's report.

MR. FAYE:  Did you have the opportunity, when the IESO was first created, to remain part of the Ontario Hydro successor pension plan?

MR. LEONARD:  No, we did not.

MR. FAYE:  Didn't have that chance, eh?

MR. LEONARD:  No.

MR. FAYE:  Do you know if the other successor companies to the previous Ontario Hydro each have their individual plans, or do they have one large plan amongst OPG and Hydro One, ESA?

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  They all have their own plans.

MR. FAYE:  They do.  Is yours more or less the old Ontario Hydro pension plan, a defined benefit plan?

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  It is a defined benefit plan.  It is a plan that was inherited from Ontario Hydro, but there have been some changes through time that have come into play.

The other comment I would make is, in terms of your original question about merging with one of these other categories from a labour relations perspective -- and I don't know how you are using the word "merge", but from the point of view of labour relations, if we're looking at changing the plan in any way, including ownership, that would have to be negotiated with each of the unions.

There are provisions in their collective agreement that we would require under which we would require mutual consent in order to take a step of that nature.

MR. FAYE:  Okay, that's fair.  My last question then relates to a comment made by the previous gentleman, and that is that you are paying attention to some study or report that goes some way to analyzing the benefits and costs of becoming a bigger pension plan.

I wonder if you could give us any details of when you might make some conclusion on that, or is it just a regular review you do and you are not taking action on it?

MR. LEONARD:  The IESO, I mean, we're always monitoring the pension arena, whether it's from the investment side or whether it's from the benefit side, in terms of compensation and benefits.

There is no defined timeline of when we would make a decision, its development or potentially evolution in the pension arena, and we would continue to monitor that.

As I mentioned, that report from the expert commission on pensions, at this point, is a report.  It's open for public comment to the end of February, and then what actually transpires, whether it be changes to the Pension Benefits Act to more easily allow mergers or plans or changes, as I say, we will continue to monitor it, and, as with anything else, in respect of pensions, take --

MR. FAYE:  Thank you.  Those are all of my questions.

MR. MILLAR:  Does anyone else have questions for this panel?  Would you like a short break, Mr. Zacher, or should we plow on?  I know there were some things you were going to discuss with Mr. Wightman, or at least the panel was going to consider.

I am in your hands if you would like to take a short break now or if you would like to keep on trucking.

MR. ZACHER:  Yes.  Why don't we take a short break, and then we will reconstitute the panel?

MR. MILLAR:  Let's take 15 minutes.  Come back at ten to 11:00.

--- Recess taken at 10:36 a.m.


--- Upon resuming at 10:55 a.m. 

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Why don't we get started again.

I understand from Mr. Zacher that he has a response to Mr. Wightman's question from before about that chart, and then I guess we will get to the second panel. 

MR. ZACHER:  Yes.  So if Mr. Van Veghel can just respond, and then he will excuse himself from the panel.  And as you can see, Mr. Tench has joined.  And then that will be the panel for the balance of the issues.

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  As I -- oh, sorry.  As I understand it, what you're looking for is a better handle on the actuals, in terms of what the payments are and the increases have been.  

So what I can provide is what the journey-person -- the comparative journey-person position -- or pay levels for 1999 and for the IESO in 2008, and for example, on the MMP2, the 100 percent or journey-person rate for all four entities or for all four companies in 1999 was $67,779.96.  The figure for the IESO journey-person rate in 2008 was $90,164.57 for MP2.  

And if you remember earlier when I spoke, I indicated that at the MP2 our actuals were at 85 percent.  And I haven't had the time to do all the arithmetic, but I am hoping that that is the type of information you are looking at.  And I can do the same for MP4 and MP6.  

MR. WIGHTMAN:  Yes.  I think that would cover it.

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  Okay.  So for MP4, the 100 percent journey-person rate in 1999 for all four companies was $77,067.75.  The 2008 figure for the IESO is $102,530.89.  And again, as I mentioned earlier, our actual is at 94 percent.  

MR. WIGHTMAN:  Okay.  

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  For MMP6, the journey-person rate in 1999 for all four companies was $87,607.82.   The comparable rate, 100 percent rate, for the IESO in 2008 was $116,514.75.  And again, our actual was at 106 percent.

MR. WIGHTMAN:  Yes.  I think that that would give us the actual averages, and that's what we were looking for.  Thanks.  

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  You're welcome.  

MR. MILLAR:  So this is Panel 2 we have now, Mr. Zacher. 

MR. ZACHER:  Yes, so Mr. Van Veghel and Mr. Finkbeiner have excused themselves.  And so the one addition now to Mr. Leonard and Mr. Ingman is Don Tench.  And Don is the director of market evolution.  And so this will be the panel to deal with the balance of the issues, 2 through 5, I believe.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.  I propose that Staff will start again.  Mr. Caputo, in fact, is going to ask the balance of our questions, so I will turn it over to him.
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Issue 2:  Asset-Backed Commercial Paper (ABCP) Investments

Questions by Mr. Caputo:


MR. CAPUTO:  This set of questions relates to the IESO's evidence regarding its asset-backed commercial paper investments, or ABCP for short.  

The evidence related to these questions is contained in page 14 and page 23 of the business plan, which is Exhibit B, tab 1, schedule 1.  And also, there's a section on ABCP that is in Exhibit B, tab 5, schedule 1.  

Board Staff would like to get some clarification regarding the IESO's assumptions relating to the future value of the ABCP investments and the status of the forecast for the market-related interest income.  

The first question is, what is the current value of the IESO's ABCP investments that were illiquid in 2008?  

MR. LEONARD:  If I might refer you, Mr. Caputo, to two updated filings that we've made.  One is an update, a status update, on asset-backed commercial paper, which has been filed as Exhibit B, tab 5, schedule 2.  And that update, well, does that.  It provides an update.


The -- subsequent to our filing, the restructuring proposal or restructuring plan that has been worked on over the last year, year and a quarter, has now been implemented and restructured.  The IESO has received its restructured notes last week.  

In the third and fourth quarter of -- certainly the fourth quarter of 2008, what we saw in Canadian international credit markets was increased volatility.  What we also saw was a widening of interest-rate spreads.  So in more simple terms, investors were expecting to be paid a higher rate of return for the same level of risk.  

Since the restructured asset-backed commercial paper notes are going to pay the same rate of interest as they had planned through the whole restructuring, the value of those investments is slightly decreased.  

Our estimate at the end of 2008 is that the real-time and transmission-right investments in asset-backed commercial paper are worth 63 percent of their initial value.  Our estimate is that by the end of 2009 they will have recovered slightly, and the capital appreciation will be that it's up to 66 percent.  

On the corporate investments, our forecast is of a value of 29 percent, and we have made no assumption in terms of capital appreciation over the planning period.  

The impact of that change in estimated value for the asset-backed commercial paper on the 2009 rate filing is approximately 700- or 800,000.  

In addition to the update on asset-backed commercial paper, the IESO also filed a revised financial outlook for 2009, which is Exhibit B, tab 8, schedule 1.  

And if -- turning to page 4 of that schedule, you will see that our forecast for market-related interest income is .5 million, which is a revision from the budget of 3.6 million, and the detail supporting both of those figures are included on page 5.  

As you can see, in terms of -- on page 5 on the schedule, the single largest factor that is impacting the current forecast for market-related interest income is not a change in value of the asset-backed commercial paper.  Rather, it's changes in capital markets in general.

We're expecting two things.  One, we're expecting to pay higher costs or a higher differential on our borrowings than what we've paid in the past, with credit being so tight in the -- in capital markets.  Certainly the IESO is not immune to that.  So banks are expecting to be paid a higher differential on what they're borrowing their money at.  That's impacting us.

And as central banks, including Canada, make moves to reduce the cost of borrowing, we're expecting a much lower return on our investments.  Previously we were assuming a return of approximately 3.24 percent on average through 2008 at the time of our business plan.  We are now forecasting .75 percent.  So certainly a material revision.  

MR. CAPUTO:  What is the basis for the IESO's estimate that the original purchase price of 23.1 million for the ABCP investment will be 66 percent by the end of -- of that, by the end of 2009?

MR. LEONARD:  It's based on the IESO modelling expected cash flows associated with the restructured notes and the timing of those cash flows, and discounting them using what we believe are market expectations in terms of interest rates that an investor would expect to return on an investment of this nature.

The specific details of what our assumptions -- the assumptions we have made, in terms of the timing of cash flows and the expectation of investors in this paper, is, by its nature, commercially sensitive.

We certainly wouldn't want to disclose the details of what those assumptions are, given that at some point in time we may be looking to liquidate our positions.  

MR. CAPUTO:  What do you think is the likelihood that this 66 percent will actually materialize by the end of this year?

MR. LEONARD:  At this point in time, that is our best estimate of what we think this paper will be worth at the end of 2009.

MR. CAPUTO:  Now, if this value doesn't increase from its current value, what would be the impact on the IESO's market-related interest income and the revenue requirements in 2009 to 2011; that is, assuming that it stays at the current level, at the current value?

MR. LEONARD:  For 2009, as I indicated in my previous answer, if there was no capital appreciation in terms of the asset-backed commercial paper, based on our assumptions for 2009 and roughly every year until the expected maturity date, it would be about $700,000 per year.

MR. CAPUTO:  So this is every year, 2009 to 2011?

MR. LEONARD:  Yes, approximately.

MR. CAPUTO:  Okay.  Now, this question relates to the prefiled evidence, but I think you've revised this.  Anyway, the question is:  What is the basis for budgeting market-related interest income of $3.6 million in 2009, given that the actual 2007 and projected 2008 are nil and the current illiquid state of the ABCP investments?

MR. LEONARD:  There's two things.  One, the detail supporting the -- both the budget, as well as our current outlook, are included in Exhibit B, tab 5, schedule -- oh, my apologies.  Exhibit B, tab 7, -- no, sorry.  Exhibit B, tab 8, page 5.

On the bottom of that page, there's a chart outlining the details supporting the 2009 budget of $3.6 million and the 2009 projection of 0.5 million.

MR. CAPUTO:  Could you maybe summarize that for us?

MR. LEONARD:  The two points referenced in the question 1 is that why are we planning to have income in 2009 when we had none in 2007 or 2008, and the other point being that the asset-backed commercial paper is illiquid.  

Handling the latter first, we don't expect the paper to be illiquid by the end of 2009.  As I mentioned, the restructuring has been completed.  The IESO has received its new notes.  Although we don't expect there to be a secondary liquid market immediately, after people see the notes that they receive, we do expect something to materialize over the coming months, or certainly by the end of the year.

In terms of the fact that we didn't recognize revenue in 2007 and 2008, as you can see in the -- in that filing that I referenced, it's an accumulation.  So in 2008 and 2007, we collected on other investments through market holdings.  We had earned approximately 7.4 million.  

We're expecting to earn another 0.6 million this year in our projection for other investments.  We're expecting to earn approximately 0.2 million on the asset-backed commercial paper investment, and the aggregate loss we're expecting by the end of 2009 on the asset-backed commercial paper is 7.7 million.

So the cumulation of all of those activities we expect to be 0.5 million, and, being a positive amount, we would expect to recognize that level of revenue in the 2009 IESO financial results.

MR. CAPUTO:  How does the IESO plan to make up for any shortfall in market-related interest income shown in page 23 of the business plan for 2009 to 2011?

MR. LEONARD:  If I can refer you to Exhibit B, tab 8, schedule 1, which is our updated financial outlook for 2008 and also 2009?

If I might turn you to page 4, the table at the bottom outlines what our current outlook is, and it does reflect a revised outlook for the value for the volume of market-related interest income that we would recognize in 2009, based on our current outlook.

The total outlook for the business at this point for 2009 is a deficit of 3.3 million.  As we have indicated in page 7 of that same schedule, although we are projecting at this point in time an operating deficit, as in prior years, the IESO will look for opportunities to reduce spending.  

At the same time, we're hopeful that there may be other positive variances in respect of our budget.  But, ultimately, the projected 2009 deficit of $3.3 million is within the $5 million accumulated surplus or deferral account at the beginning of 2009, and we would look to utilize that to absorb some of that variance.

MR. CAPUTO:  Now, the next question is:  Does the IESO consider its proposed usage fee for 2009 to be appropriate in light of the current situation with its ABCP investments?  If so, please explain.

MR. LEONARD:  I guess, as indicated in the updated filing that I have just referenced, in terms of Exhibit B, tab 8, schedule 1, page 7, the answer to the question is, yes, we believe our rate application is appropriate.

We believe that -- the revised outlook reflects 0.5 million of market-related interest income, and our outlook is a deficit of 3.3 million.

We believe it is appropriate to make no amendment to our requested rate, given that that variance is well within the $5 million deferral account balance.

MR. CAPUTO:  Okay.  Which brings us to the next question, which is:  What is the IESO's position with respect to drawing on its accumulated operating surplus to make up for a shortfall in market-related interest income?

MR. LEONARD:  Certainly the IESO believes that the intent and the purpose of the deferral account is for -- to manage budget variances, whether it is in respect of market-related interest income, usage-fee revenue, or any other cost-type.  And as our updated filings indicate, it would be our intent to utilize that deferral account for its intended purpose.  

MR. CAPUTO:  So you consider that to be an intended purpose for that account?

MR. LEONARD:  Yes.  We believe the intended purpose for that account is to apply variances against our budget. 

MR. CAPUTO:  All right.  Now, for the next question, I am going to pass around a document here -- pass that around -- which is the third -- the IESO's third-quarter financial statements.  

Can we give this an exhibit number?  

MR. MILLAR:  I think we are at KT1.3.  

MR. CAPUTO:  Thank you.  
EXHIBIT NO. KT1.3:  IESO'S THIRD-QUARTER FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

MR. CAPUTO:  Now, could you please refer to page 2 of the notes to this document that's being passed around.  Now, page 2 of the notes indicates that the IESO is not obligated to reimburse the market accounts in respect of the credit losses incurred on the ABCP investments.  However, the IESO has not recognized, as other revenue, any investment income earned in the market settlements accounts during the year.  

So my question related to that is, please explain why the IESO is not obligated to reimburse the market accounts in respect of the credit losses incurred in the ABCP investments?  

MR. LEONARD:  If I might refer you to Exhibit B, tab 5, schedule 2.  Exhibit B, tab 5 -- sorry.  If I might refer you to Exhibit B, tab 5, schedule 2, page 3, starting about the fourth line.

The market rules for the IESO-administered markets do not have a legal or constructive obligation to make the real-time market whole or repay -- or for the IESO to make the market whole or repay any investment losses, and that's why we don't recognize it.  

I mean, specifically, in Chapter 9, section 6.15.9, it states that:

“Monies in the IESO settlement account at the end of each year which have been earned from interest on funds in the IESO settlement accounts and which are not attributable to any incomplete settlement process or outstanding settlement dispute shall be used to offset the IESO admin charge."  

So the IESO not having a legal or even a constructive obligation to have to repay that money at the time, it -- from a generally accepted accounting principles perspective, we could not recognize it.  It doesn't represent a liability on behalf of the organization.

Practically, though, the IESO does absorb those losses in -- ultimately, in foregone market-related interest income in future years until such time as accumulated earnings on other investments become larger.  

MR. CAPUTO:  Okay.  I think you probably answered my last question on that, which was, who would have caused responsibility for any permanent losses in ABCP investments if this were to occur?  

So can you just -- do you have anything further to say on that, or...?

MR. LEONARD:  Yes.  Two things.  One, the notion of permanent losses, the forecasts we're using, whether it is forecasted or actual and realized loss, it is treated the same.  So we have treated it in a manner consistent with whether -- even if it was a permanent loss.  And as I have outlined, ultimately the IESO would absorb all losses associated with the investments.  

MR. CAPUTO:  Okay.  Well, thanks very much.  That's my last question on that section.  I guess we'll move on to the issue related to capital spending.

Now, the evidence to this set of questions is contained on page 34 of the business plan, and that is Exhibit B, tab 1, schedule 1.  

MR. ZACHER:  Mr. Caputo, I wonder if it might be more helpful, as we did with the last panel, to just exhaust everybody's questions on ABCP, and then move on to the next issue.  

MR. MILLAR:  I think that is fine, if that is the way you would like to proceed.

Mr. Wightman, do you have questions on ABCP?  

MR. WIGHTMAN:  Yes.  We pre-filed just one question.  We saw Board Staff's questions on ABCP.  
Questions by Mr. Wightman:


MR. WIGHTMAN:  I don't even really need a number.  I was just struck by the fact that the grade of the security on ABCP was the same as, I think you said, government short paper.

So I don't even need a number.  Can you confirm that the expected returns, when the ABCP was bought, were above the expected returns on federal government short-term paper?

MR. LEONARD:  Yes, I can confirm the return on these investments.  The expected return was higher than Government of Canada T-bills. 

MR. WIGHTMAN:  And it wasn't too good to be true, just better, right?  

MR. LEONARD:  In our judgment, yes.  

MR. WIGHTMAN:  It wasn't any kind of a Madoff kind of return?  

MR. LEONARD:  No.  

MR. WIGHTMAN:  Okay.  Thanks.  

MR. MILLAR:  Thanks, Mr. Wightman.

Mr. Faye, you had some questions?  

MR. FAYE:  Yes, thanks, Mr. Millar.
Questions by Mr. Faye:


MR. FAYE:  Before I get to the questions that Energy Probe filed on this, I just need a couple of clarifications on an answer that you gave Board Staff, and that concerns the obligation to recognize losses.

And I think I heard you say that you can't recognize them, because under GAAP only legal or constructive obligations can be recognized in your financials.  Did I get that right?  

MR. LEONARD:  Yes.  

MR. FAYE:  I'm not familiar with the term "constructive".  What does a constructive obligation consist of?  

MR. LEONARD:  If -- "constructive" would mean, if we had -- if we weren't required under contract, for example, to -- well, in this case, if we didn't, under the market rules, have to fund any losses, but in the past we'd always done that, we've created a constructive expectation that that's been our behaviour in the past.  So even though we don't have a legal obligation, we would do that.  So --

MR. FAYE:  Do you have a legal obligation to report interest income, positive income?  

MR. LEONARD:  Well, I don't know if it's a legal obligation.  Under generally accepted accounting principles, if we have earned -- if we've earned investment income, yes, we do have an obligation to -- we're required to report it.

MR. FAYE:  Hmm.  Well, what I'm having trouble with is, it seems to me it is a generally accepted principle of business that you recognize both profits and losses.  And yet the IESO doesn't seem to recognize any losses.  They just disappear somewhere.

And I understand the technical basis now for why you say you don't have to report them, but how can that be a generally accepted business principle, that you ignore losses but report gains?  Doesn't that distort the financial picture that you actually have?  

MR. LEONARD:  In my judgment, no.  I don't believe that it does distort the financial picture, in that -- that's in terms of -- generally, the purpose of financial reporting is to inform people of the position of the business at the time, and that is our -- at that point in time, those are the obligations of the business.  

I think in this instance those that pay our fee are made very aware of any future consequence of these investments through -- whether it be through the updates we filed or through the -- sorry, and when I say "updates" I mean general updates to our market participants or through this proceeding.

There's no -- I don't recall the term you used.  It sort of disappears.  There is no -- there is no impression of that nor do we undertake it in a way that things just simply disappear.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Well, without belabouring that much further, am I right in concluding that if you suffer financial loss, reportable on your statements or not, that's money that you don't have to pay your obligations, and you have to replace that in some way; is that fair?

MR. LEONARD:  Yes.

MR. FAYE:  And, ultimately, that replacement has to come from the consumer.  They're the only ones who are really paying any real money here; right?

MR. LEONARD:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. FAYE:  An average consumer looking at your financial statements and seeing that there is no losses reported would conclude, probably, that you don't have any losses, not that they're just not reported.

So I am wondering, although your main customers, your direct customers, being LDCs and direct-connect transmission customers, may be sophisticated enough to understand your accounting practices, I would suggest maybe that the average consumer wouldn't have any idea how to understand that.

Do you have any concerns about that?

MR. LEONARD:  No, I don't.  I believe that our treatment in our disclosure is appropriate.

Certainly by looking at our financial statements, not just our annual ones, but our quarterly statements -- Mr. Caputo referenced -- he certainly read it and understood it that we don't have that obligation, and so that is in there, and certainly as is a great deal of contact information should anyone have questions in terms of the IESO and what that statement itself means.

And I can report to you today, Mr. Faye, that no one has ever called and enquired about that.

MR. FAYE:  I guess my final comment - and I would appreciate your comment in return - is that if there's an appearance that money that has flowed from ratepayers to the IESO isn't accounted for in a way that the average person can understand, you're not concerned about those appearances, I take it from your comments?

MR. LEONARD:  We have disclosed to our market participants, so those people who are paying our fee, what's been going on with asset-backed commercial paper all the way through.  We have been transparent in our estimated value of these all the way through.

So, no, I am quite comfortable with how we treat it.  I am quite comfortable that we have disclosed it and been transparent, both through this proceeding and these proceedings, which are public, as well as through our participant news that we send to our market participants and anybody else who has registered for information on the IESO.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.

Can I move to our prefiled questions?  This would be our question number 2 on asset-backed commercial paper.

What I am wondering is how you make your investment decisions.  How did you come to decide to put your short-term funds into asset-backed commercial paper?

MR. LEONARD:  A point of clarification.  The question you're asking is slightly different than the prefiled.

MR. FAYE:  It's sort of a preamble to it, if you will.  You can go directly to sub (a) of that.  Did you rely solely on rating agencies to make this decision or did you do some internal analysis?

MR. LEONARD:  No.  Credit ratings are certainly an important part to our investment decisions, but, firstly, we would look at what types of asset classes we're comfortable investing in, and at the time we were comfortable investing in government paper and -- government paper, bank paper and commercial paper, with asset-backed being one form of commercial paper and with the requirement -- with credit rating requirement of no less than R1 low.  So everything had to be in the R1 class, which is the top class of investments.

MR. FAYE:  Am I right in saying R1 high is the top of the top?

MR. LEONARD:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So when you decided that asset-backed commercial paper -- when you decided to accept that R1 high rating, were you aware of what those assets were that backed that paper?

MR. LEONARD:  We were aware that the investments were generally backstopped by assets.  The specific detail of those assets that sat within each of the asset trusts was not public information.

What we did place reliance on and something that we did monitor was:  What was the market's perception of these investments by way of returns?  And the returns being earned on asset-backed commercial paper were virtually identical to that of banker's acceptances or investments -- short-term paper being issued by schedule 1 Canadian banks.

So our assessment -- and you had asked the question of how did we arrive at the decision to invest in asset-backed commercial paper.  At the time, our investment strategy was we wanted to invest in highly liquid, high quality investments, which, although we felt comfortable, generally, with the risk associated with R1 high, R1 mid or R1 low, at the time we were limiting our investments only to R1 high.  

Then in terms of from a cash flow perspective, given that at times we're investing for very specific odd durations - it could be six days, it could be 11, it could be 14 - there isn't always the type of -- we were then looking at the different types of investments that met that duration, that met that credit quality classification of R1 high.  

So we were typically looking at -- we were looking for bank paper and asset-backed commercial paper, which the market was pricing in virtually the same risk.  Depending on what supply was out there, we would buy one or the other.

On some, in some instances, including the last day we actually bought the paper, we bought both based on what was available.

MR. FAYE:  Have you changed your opinion about the rating agencies' competence to rate these kinds of investments in light of the severe reduction in value here?

MR. LEONARD:  I guess what we've done is we've placed -- we've ensured we're not placing reliance on a single rating agency.

So where we have changed our investment approach is we no longer invest in commercial paper.  We only invest in government paper that is rated R1 high or schedule 1 banks that are rated R1 high by more than one rating agency.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Well, that is comforting, but I would like to dig a bit into the R1 high rating for schedule 1 banks.  In your opinion, ignoring what the rating agencies might think, are these as secure as Government of Canada bonds or treasury notes?  Are they backed to the same extent that you just can't lose unless the country goes down?

MR. LEONARD:  No, they're not, and that's why they pay a slight -- they would pay a premium relative to Government of Canada investments.

MR. FAYE:  So a banking failure could wipe out your investment there; is that fair?

MR. LEONARD:  I guess it depends what we're holding with them, but certainly, yes, if a schedule 1 AAA-rated bank in Canada was to fail, we're at risk of losing some of our investment.  Yes, that's correct.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  I think part C is answered by your update, and part D we have discussed.

One more question on investment risk.  Do you dig into, at all, how rating agencies establish the risk of these kinds of investments?

MR. LEONARD:  Yes, we do review the -- we do review the -- I don't know the technical term, the rating notes associated with various investments.

I will suggest we don't do that for Government of Canada investments, but we would for others.  We also monitor, on a daily basis, rating news and certainly any rating changes, whether that be an actual rating change, someone being put on watch, someone being put on negative watch.  So we do look into this information and monitor it on a regular basis.

MR. FAYE:  You wouldn't go so deep as to question portfolio theory that might underlie the risk assessment?  Would you go that deep, to look at the probability of distributions of any component failing?

MR. LEONARD:  No, not at this point. I mean, we -- certainly our view is that Canadian banks -- Schedule 1 and Schedule 2 -- are heavily capitalized in Canada and present an acceptable risk for the investments that we're making.  

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Let me just quickly read through some of these other questions.  

Question 3, Part A, I take that -- the answer to that has been given, that you're just not exposing yourself to illiquid investments.  You're concentrating on Schedule 1 banks and government notes.  

MR. LEONARD:  Schedule 1 and Schedule 2, yes.  

MR. FAYE:  Schedule 1 and 2?  Okay.

There is a reference on page 10 of the business plan to the confidential ABCP investment policy.  Without revealing the confidential content of it, can you explain why it's confidential?  

MR. LEONARD:  It's confidential because it establishes trigger points, in terms of what approvals are required for us to divest of our existing investments.

As I've mentioned, we won't -- we don't invest in commercial paper any more.  It identifies who needs to approve, at what level, for each of the various notes that we have gotten -- we have received through the restructuring.

It doesn't identify -- it doesn't, by its nature, identify when we would absolutely sell or absolutely buy.  But certainly it is sufficiently commercially sensitive that we wouldn't want it divulged.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  And this is the answer you gave Board Staff shortly ago.

MR. LEONARD:  Yes.

MR. FAYE:  You would be signalling your intent to the market, and you don't want to do that.

MR. LEONARD:  That's correct.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  I think that's all my questions on that subject, thanks.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Faye.  I think we will move back to Mr. Caputo.  
Issue 3: Capital Spending

Questions from Mr. Caputo (continued):


MR. CAPUTO:  This set of questions relates to the IESO's proposal for capital spending.  The evidence related to these questions is contained on page 34 of the business plan.  That's Exhibit B, tab 1, schedule 1.  And also, there is a section on enhanced day-ahead commitment, or EDAC for short.  That's in Exhibit B, tab 4, schedule 1.

Now, the table on page 34 of the business plan shows capital expenditures for the proposed EDAC of 15.9 million in 2009 and 10.6 million in 2010, for a total estimated cost of 26.5 million.  

We note that this estimate of 26.5 million significantly exceeds the estimated costs of 16 million for the day-ahead market proposed in the IESO's 2008 fee submission.  

Board Staff would like to get a better understanding and an update on the finalization of the design and the process for implementing EDAC, and also the expected total costs.  

Now, the first item is, please provide a breakdown of the proposed 15.9 million expenditure in 2009 and 10.6 million in 2010 for EDAC, using appropriate categories such as materials, labour, overhead, testing, or other categories you may have.  

MR. TENCH:  Yes.  I can answer those questions, Mr. Caputo.  In light of -- yes, I can answer those questions, Mr. Caputo.  

In light of the changes that have taken place between the last filing and this current filing, would it be helpful for me to summarize those changes before answering your specific changes?  

MR. CAPUTO:  Sure, I would like that.  That would be good.  

MR. TENCH:  Okay.  At the end of 2007, at our last fee -- and our last fees case, you will recall that the goal of the day had mechanism review, was to address current and future challenges with efficient integration of Ontario's changing generation fleet.  

Three options were defined at that time.  Option 1 was an enhancement to our current process of day-ahead commitment processes with a price forecast.  Option 2 was enhancements to our current processes with an energy-forward market.  And option 3 was an unconstrained day-ahead market, plus a base-line scenario that reflected no change to our systems.  

Stakeholders supported option 3 -- that is the unconstrained day-ahead market -- to be explored further, along with options 1 and 2.

Direction from our board at that time was to continue to investigate those three options, including a cost/benefit analysis, and to report back to them.  

Estimated costs at the end of 2007 and early 2008 were included in our fee case last -- for 2008, and we chose a total of $16 million estimates, based on earlier estimates from 2004, a day-ahead market project, and assumptions about the likely functionality of the options that would be implemented.  

We undertook the work that I mentioned with the -- with stakeholders and investigated those three options.  In the spring of 2008 we released -- the IESO released a preliminary assessment based on a rigorous cost/benefit analysis/methodology that we developed with stakeholders.  

It included IESO costs, as well as participant costs, for the three options, and we also had a significantly better understanding of the three designs that were being proposed.  This better understanding led to refined estimates for the implementation costs of those options.  

Option 1, implementation costs for the IESO were $27 million; option 2 was $27-and-a-half million; and option 3, or the unconstrained day-ahead market, were $39 million.  

The results of our cost/benefit payback analysis showed that any -- that payback was approximately two years for option 1 and 2 and three years for option 3.  

Through this work, it became very clear to all parties that there were common elements of the three designs that represented most of the benefits.  These three common elements were unit commitment, based on 24-hour optimization; three-part bids and offers; and multiple past unit commitments.  

All stakeholders recognized that the benefits were centred on these three common elements, and all supported the further work on these three common elements.  

Traders and most generators also saw value in the forward position of option 3, or unconstrained day-ahead market, UDAM, that was not recognized in the cost/benefit analysis.

There was a decision made at the end of the spring of 2008 to proceed over the summer, refining the common element design and addressing specific stakeholder concerns with respect to production cost guarantees, inclusion of exports in the models, energy-forward market development, and the IESO concerns with respect to inefficiencies between the constrained and unconstrained schedules in a UDAM.

Throughout the summer of 2008, additional stakeholdering was undertaken with a wide variety of stakeholders in an attempt to quantify the benefits of a UDAM of the forward position of an unconstrained day-ahead market, as well as the design based on the common elements.

At the end of August 2008 we released a draft design document for the model being proposed.  At that time it was -- we were now calling this the EDAC option, enhanced day-ahead commitment.

A large majority of stakeholders and SAC members concluded that the proposed design of the common elements, principles of the cost guarantees, and the inclusion of exports in the process would bring value to Ontario and the IESO should proceed with this design.  

Both stakeholders and the Stakeholder Advisory Committee agreed that the energy-forward market could proceed on a separate timeline from the EDAC project.

At that time, at the end of September, the IESO board approved the implementation of EDAC, including a capital budget of $26.5 million, and directed IESO management to establish a project and control framework, a project plan and detailed budget schedule.

The project milestones identified at that time were to finalize the market design by November 2008, complete detail design by March 2009, select a vendor in April 2009, and begin user acceptance tests June 2010.

Cost estimates for this option -- or this final design, known as EDAC, were included in the IESO's 2009 business plan.  Those numbers were $15.9 million in 2009 and $10.6 million in 2010, totalling $26.5 million.

Throughout the fall of 2008, additional design work was undertaken by the IESO and stakeholders under the EDAC project, and the IESO board approved the project control framework in November.

This framework defines, for project control purposes, the authorities, the governance of the projects and defines responsibilities for project operation.

This includes regular progress updates to the audit committee of the IESO board and approval for release of funds at various phases.

Cost and schedule are continuously assessed based on best available information, and control points built into the schedule allow the audit committee to assess continuing viability of the project as it progresses.

Quality of the deliverable is established as paramount, while recognizing the importance of meeting costs and schedule to achieve the benefits.

Based on a rigorous risk analysis at this time, in the fall of 2008, and additional work on the estimation of costs for the first part of the project, a revised schedule for the cost and schedule was set out.

The cost remains -- the estimate remains at a total of $26.5 million.  Revised schedule dates are:  Market design complete in February 2009; detailed design for procurement complete in June 2009; vendor selection in August 2009; user acceptance testing starting in November 2010; and market trials beginning in early 2011.

This represents approximately a three-month deferral in the dates, earlier dates.  The reason for the delays were associated with project recruitment for the specialized skill sets required by the project, the need to undertake significant design with stakeholders to resolve potential implementation issues early in the process, and additional complexity uncovered as the design was developed.

Taking this time was consistent with our objective for quality of the overall project and to ensure that design is fully defined prior to procuring systems.

The first major milestone has been met, the first major milestone being the market design.  That is complete, with no significant design issues identified by stakeholders, and this design document will be posted on the website in -- on February 4th.

The IESO board has been kept up to date on the progress of the project, and the first control point for the audit committee within the approved project will be release of approved capital funds for detailed design of the project.

We intend to request the release of funds, these approved funds, at the February IESO board meeting -- sorry, the IESO audit committee meeting.

Next steps, at this point, the detailed design stage will take place over winter and summer of 2009.  It's under way.  It includes development of market rules, detailed business requirements and detailed system requirements.

There will be an additional control point for the audit committee for release of approved funds for system procurement in the fall of 2009, prior to the initiation of the build and implement phase.

The cost of the project continues to be estimated at $26.5 million.

Those are my comments.

MR. CAPUTO:  Thank you, Mr. Tench.

The three-month deferral that you mentioned, would that have an impact on the 15.9 million that was slated to be spent in 2009?

MR. TENCH:  Yes.  Yes, it will have an impact on those numbers.  However, the nature of those deferrals and the size of those -- the amounts I think are difficult to assess.

For one thing, the majority of the costs in -- or the majority of the costs associated with the project are associated with system procurement, and, as I mentioned, we still intend to have vendor procurement in 2009.

The nature of those -- the contract that is negotiated with the vendor will determine the requirements for capital payments in 2009, and those contracts have not been established yet.  And those represent, by far, the largest part of the costs of the project.

The smaller costs associated with the labour and -- labour costs, the three-month delay has affected those costs.

So as a starting point for our estimates for 2009/2010 - and now there will likely be some very small costs in 2011 - we would propose that we continue with the original estimates, recognizing that there will be some change in those over the next two years.

MR. CAPUTO:  So we don't have any revised numbers, then?

MR. TENCH:  We have revised numbers, to the extent that we realize that the estimates are likely to change slightly, but I have no better information to give you at this time.

MR. CAPUTO:  All right.  Could you, then, please comment on the accuracy of the overall $26.5 million estimate?

MR. TENCH:  This $26.5 million estimate represents a reasonable estimate for a market design that is now fully defined and agreed to by stakeholders, where the detailed business and system requirements for the design are at an early stage of development and where the vendor costs are, as yet, not established.

But I think it represents a reasonable estimate for the overall cost of implementing the project.

MR. CAPUTO:  Would you say plus or minus of the value or the range of amounts that we're looking at?

MR. TENCH:  I don't have a percentage number for you, but the estimate does include a contingency amount.  I believe it was $4.6 million of that represents contingency.

MR. CAPUTO:  All right.  So the next question is:  Could you explain the significant difference between the current $26.5 million estimate for EDAC and the $16 million estimate that was proposed for the 2008 fee submission of $16 million?

MR. TENCH:  Yes.  The estimate included in the 2008 fee submission represented anticipated costs for possible designs.

We identified in the proceeding in 2008 that there was considerable uncertainty in this number, but it was necessary to include a best estimate for capital planning and fee determinant purposes.

The basis of this estimate was rooted, as I said earlier, in the 2004 comprehensive DAM project.  We looked to that project as the -- providing the best estimates for system costs that we might incur.

The estimates for the 2008 fee submission for the systems that we were anticipating implementing as part of one of the three options included 24-hour optimization, based on three parts -- part bids, and, we assumed, were consistent with the lowest cost -- lowest end estimates for that functionality that were part of the comprehensive 2004 DAM design.

     Within that original 2004 design, the difference between the low- and high-end estimates for this functionality were large.  It represents -- there was a $22 million difference between the low end and the high end of those estimates in 2004.

     Our rationale for using the low end was that, at the time of the 2008 fees case, we were not intending to implement a comprehensive DAM model, and there was a very large amount of uncertainty in the likely outcome for decisions yet to be made.

     On that basis, we chose, for the large part of the costs, we looked to the low end of the identified costs in the earlier project.

     Our experience, through further development of the market design, is that the unit commitment and optimization functionality is a large part of the -- is a larger part of the full comprehensive DAM estimates than we had anticipated, and current estimates reflect this difference.

     MR. CAPUTO:  So are we looking at basically just differences or inaccuracy in the estimates?  Or would you say the current EDAC has additional benefits that were not part of the DAM project?

     MR. TENCH:  I would say, with respect to the estimates -- I'm sorry, would you mind repeating your question?

     MR. CAPUTO:  Are the differences between what was proposed in 2008 and what is being proposed now mainly due to inaccuracies in estimating, or are we getting additional benefits with the EDAC that we weren't getting with the DAM project?

     MR. TENCH:  Two parts to that, to answer your question

there.  Certainly the early estimation included in the 2008 fees case had to -- had to represent a very -- a large possible range of outcomes.  And I explained our treatment of that in choosing the capital cost to include in that fees case.

     Once the design and the options were more fully defined, we were in a much better position to estimate the costs, and that we brought forward, and I believe we mentioned at the fees case in 2008 that we -- we believed the $16 million was on the low side of the estimates and that, in fairly short order, after the fees case, we would be in a better position to give the Board better cost estimates.  And we did that through the cost/benefit analysis.


As you said, it -- your second part -- or the second part of your question was, is the option that's being chosen, does it provide additional benefits to what the day-ahead market would have provided in 2004?

     The cost/benefit demonstrated and the option that we chose brings the most value to the province of any of the options considered, at lower overall cost.

     So I would say that it's difficult to compare the functionality, but the option that has been chosen and approved by our board and supported by stakeholders reflects the best investment for the province in this -- in these systems.

     MR. ZACHER:  Just to clarify, Mr. Caputo, I think when we went before the Board last year when we spoke to this issue at the time, the cost/benefit analysis was just underway.  And so the update that was given to the Panel was that the $16 million number was sort of a placeholder for planning purposes.  It was, as Mr. Tench indicated, to cover a range of circumstances.  But early indications from the cost/benefit analysis were that the specific mechanism that was being considered was likely going to be in excess of $16 million.  So it wasn't -- it's not an apples-and-apples comparison.

     MR. CAPUTO:  Thanks for that, Mr. Zacher.

     Okay.  Moving on to the next question, given that the day-ahead mechanisms have been included in the IESO's business plans for several years now and have steadily been deferred, please comment on the likelihood of finalizing the design of EDAC and proceeding with the implementation in 2009 and 2010 as per the current business plan.

     MR. TENCH:  Yes.  I agree that the design has gone through a number of iterations.  However, they have all been based on the continued development of requirements identified by stakeholders in the IESO.

     The processes and methodologies to assess costs and benefits have improved significantly over the time frame of this development.  For example, we witnessed the fact that the EDAC design chosen and agreed to by stakeholders and approved does not represent a day-ahead market, as all parties anticipated earlier in the process, a design that would have cost more.

     The rationale for this decision was based on the evidence provided from the cost/benefit.  And our continued belief is that we must take time with stakeholders to ensure that the design will provide the identified benefits, a belief that is embodied in the control framework for the current EDAC project.

     Your specific question is with respect to confidence in proceeding with the current implementation.  And at this time, we have an approved project, we have a market design that is complete, as well as a start on detailed business and system requirements.

     I believe we're proceeding well towards the milestone dates identified earlier, consistent with the start of user acceptance testing in the fall of 2010.

     So on this basis we believe that the project is well underway.  And while there may be some change to the implementation dates, this project is underway and will be implemented.

     MR. CAPUTO:  Okay.  A final question.  Does the IESO require any further approvals by its own management and/or board of directors in order to proceed with the implementation?

     MR. TENCH:  The short answer, Mr. Caputo, is "no".  However, I think it's useful to understand how we manage capital projects.


The Board -- first of all, the Board approved the project and the capital funds of $26.5 million in September.  However, that's not to say that there is not oversight within the company over a major project like EDAC.


So both management and the -- because of the size of the project, the audit committee of the board have an interest in the oversight of this, and that is reflected in the governance and control framework that's been established for the project.

     And this is not at all inconsistent with the way we manage any capital project at the IESO.  All projects have control over them, and they have milestones for release of funds within the approved project.  The use of control points is standard practice for us and for most others, implementing capital projects.

     And as I mentioned, the first of this -- these control points occurs in February, shortly in the future, when we intend to recommend that capital funds be released to complete the detailed design phase of the project.

     MR. CAPUTO:  Thanks for that, Mr. Tench.  I have no further questions.

     MR. MILLAR:  I think Mr. Caputo does have some smart meter questions, but maybe on this topic I will see if Mr. Wightman or Mr. Faye have any questions.

Questions by Mr. Wightman:

     MR. WIGHTMAN:  I have a couple.  Thank you.


The pre-filed Question A looks at the projects that you've -- on page 17, which you revised, the end of life, I think, and that changed your amortization expenses, and chapter -- or, page, excuse me, page 19 is the 2008 capital expenditures.  There's no overlap there, is there?  Those are all separate?

MR. LEONARD:  That's correct.  There is no overlap.

MR. WIGHTMAN:  Okay.

I think unless there is something important, you can forget about my question B that I prefiled, which is about amortization and what kind of capital spending you have.

But there were one or two little questions that arose as a result of your update, B, tab 7, S-1, and looking at the current business plan you filed, which was B-1, tab 1, schedule 1.

I just wonder if you could tell me when the business plan, 2009 to 2011, was finalized or released.  When did you finish that?

MR. LEONARD:  It would have largely been completed at the end of September, prior to filing with the Minister of Energy and Infrastructure, by October 1st.

MR. WIGHTMAN:  Oh, okay.

Maybe just sticking with that, one of your projects is this online limit derivation, and I think on page 20 -- yes, on page 20, you say the total cost is $5.2 million for this project, right in the first sentence, in the...

MR. LEONARD:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. WIGHTMAN:  Now, if you then look to page -- excuse me.  If you turn to page 45 of the business plan, which is appendix 2, IESO Capital Projects, it looks like the second and third one might correspond to this online limit derivation.

MR. LEONARD:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. WIGHTMAN:  The total there spent, I think, that it looks like, on this project, is $3.875 million?

MR. LEONARD:  Sorry, Mr. Wightman, if you could...

MR. WIGHTMAN:  Okay.  If you look at page 45, it looks like, in your capital program, the total spending on this project is going to be 3.875 million; is that correct?

MR. LEONARD:  No.  It's $3.875 million is for the period of 2009 through -- sorry, 2008 through 2011, and there is subsequent spending in 2012.

MR. WIGHTMAN:  Okay, that was my question on that.  Yes, that's it.  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Faye, anything on this?

MR. FAYE:  Yes.  Thanks, Mr. Millar.
Questions by Mr. Faye:

MR. FAYE:  I am looking at page 3 of our prefiled questions.  At the bottom there, question number 4, this refers to Exhibit B, tab 4, schedule 1, the attachment day-ahead market evolution preliminary assessment report.

On page 3, there is a chart in that report that compares options 1, 2 and 3.  The first line is net present value, and it looks like option 1 wins by a very small margin over option 2.   The payback post implementation, number of years, in the second category option 1 and 2 appear to be the same at two years. 

There is the impact of non-quantified.  I am not certain what the plus sign refer to there, but you could -- I am sure it is probably pretty simple if you explain it to me.

Then the last was year post implementation, bill savings realized.  Both of them are category 1 there.

So my question is:  It looks to me, just from a cursory look at this table, that option 1 would win, not option 2.  I wonder if you could just explain why that would be?

MR. TENCH:  Yes, I can answer those questions.

Given the nature, the very detailed nature, of some of these questions, let me just briefly provide a little background to the methodology that we used there in the cost benefit analysis.

The methodology was based on best practices, and it was developed with significant input from the stakeholders.  We had five technical support groups with stakeholders between -- in 2007 and early 2008 to discuss the methodology and the parameters in it.

The stakeholders included representatives from Bruce Power, OPG, Direct Energy, AMPCO, Brookfield, TransCanada and Optimal, and all meetings, materials and minutes are posted on the IESO website.

The methodology was rigorously applied and the results well documented.  After the publication of the preliminary assessment, there were multiple stakeholder sessions to present the findings of this report.

Stakeholders were given an opportunity to ask clarifying questions and challenge the content of the report.  And the minutes of these meetings, in response to stakeholder questions, are also posted on the IESO website.

Energy Probe did not participate in any of those opportunities.

As I said, they're very detailed questions.  In the interest of time, I will attempt to give brief answers to these very detailed questions.  But, as I said, this delves into areas that will take considerable time.

To your question, option 2 includes an energy-forward market as part of its design, whereas option 1 included the price forecast model that we have currently implemented.

The benefits of an energy-forward market were not quantified, but, on a qualitative basis, based on the assessments that were done as part of the cost benefit analysis and research done by -- together with the stakeholders, the benefits of the EFM clearly exceeded the small difference in costs between the implementation costs.

So, therefore, while on a -- if we applied the cost from a strict cost benefit approach, if we ignored the unquantified benefits - and that's clearly not the direction that we went - then option 1 did appear to be more efficient.

However, when we considered the clear benefits of the energy-forward market, there was -- option 2 was the preferred option, in that we felt it brought more benefits to the province.

MR. FAYE:  Okay, I think I do understand now.

If we look at your category "impact of non-quantified", I see the one plus sign in option 1 and two plus signs in option 2.  I take that to mean option 2 beats option 1?

MR. TENCH:  That's correct.

MR. FAYE:  But I also understood it to mean that the bracketed thing was the sole criteria, and that is shorter payback period.

So the payback period in option 2 looks like it beats option 1, even though they're both two years.

I think what I just heard you say now was there is a whole lot are more in the non-quantified category than payback period.

MR. TENCH:  Well, there's no mystery about the non-quantified elements.  It was described in great detail in the preliminary assessment which we filed in the fees case.

And the areas that were not qualified -- or, sorry, not quantified, were described in some detail, and there are many more aspects than just the EFM versus -- the energy-forward market versus the price forecast model.  

The decision was not based solely on the aspects that had been quantified.  In any decision of this magnitude, we must consider other non-quantified aspects in the decision, and we did.

And our assessment of those and how they factored into the decision are described in detail in the reports and in the stakeholder sessions that followed.

MR. FAYE:  Can I ask you, then, what does the phrase in brackets "shorter payback period" in this row of the table refer to?

MR. TENCH:  Okay.

MR. FAYE:  Why is that there?

MR. TENCH:  The reason for the statements in brackets there was to give some indication of what the symbols meant, the plus and the plus and minus, between the three options.

So while option 1 did have a shorter pay-back as a result of the -- we felt it would have a shorter pay-back period as a result of the non-quantified benefits, that's what we -- that's what that statement means there.

However, option 2 had a larger and, therefore, shorter pay-back period if we were to consider the non-quantified benefits in contrast to option 1.  

MR. FAYE:  And so the row above that then, where the pay-back period is presented as two years in each case, doesn't consider the non-quantified benefits?  Have I got that right?  

MR. TENCH:  That is correct.  

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  That makes sense then.  Thanks for that.  

Turning to our next page, question 5, page 15 to 17 of the attachment talks about implementation and maintenance costs.  And I wonder if you could just clarify that option 1 is estimated to require two-and-a-third staff for maintenance.  Option 2 is only -- only requires two people.  But option 2 appears to have an additional element -- that is this energy-forward market -- that to the uninstructed observer would suggest that it would require more maintenance.  But it doesn't.  It requires less.  

Can you explain why that is so?  

MR. TENCH:  Yes, yes, I can.  The option 1 estimate required the continued publication of a price forecast model that we currently provide to participants.  

That publication of that forecast requires a small contribution from staff at the IESO in the amount of approximately one-third of a full-time equivalent:  To prepare the input data, to manually operate the model, and to validate results before they're posted.  

The option 2, the energy-forward market would replace the price forecast program, and the EFM would operate automatically without additional staff.  Therefore, one-third less staff would be required for option 2 than option 1.  

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  That is sensible.

The next part of that question number 5 refers to the upgrades, the refreshing upgrades every seven years or -- not every seven years, but after seven years post-implementation.  

And what I would like to ask you is that the current day-ahead system appears to me, from the report, to have been in service since 2006.  Am I right on that?

MR. TENCH:  That's correct.  

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  And it looks like you need to spend about 24 million to replace it with this new system.  Am I right there, too, about 24 million?  

MR. TENCH:  We are replacing -- the new EDAC project will replace, but provides additional functionality to what the current --

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So I look at that and I say your previous system was in service for three years.  And this is not a refreshment.  This is a wholesale replacement that you would like to do.  

Why is it reasonable to suggest that after seven years of the new system that all it would require is a refreshment?  Doesn't it make more sense that you'd have to toss the thing out and replace it wholesale, just as you are doing now?  

MR. TENCH:  No.  I would disagree.  We can't make that assumption at this time.  The costs that were included for refreshment purposes reflect the changing nature of the technology on which the systems run, not the business processes and the systems themselves.  

So the costs -- the costs -- the refreshment costs refer specifically to the IT systems, upgrade of hardware and software.  And after seven years, it's a reasonable time to assume that you may need to replace those -- that hardware and software.  

MR. FAYE:  So has it been the IESO's experience on IT hardware and software that after seven years that stuff is upgradeable, and that you don't have to toss it in the trash and buy a new system?  

MR. TENCH:  I think perhaps you are missing the distinction I was attempting to make. 

MR. FAYE:  Okay.

MR. TENCH:  The systems themselves and the -- or the software that runs the process for the enhanced day-ahead commitment project, we are not intending to replace that in seven years.  We are intending to replace the platform on which that software operates.  And it has been our experience, roughly, that we would include -- we would refresh hardware and the operating-system software on which it relies on roughly that kind of time frame. 

MR. FAYE:  So we are talking a replacement of hardware is refreshing, but software goes on.  It runs on the new hardware.  

MR. TENCH:  That's correct.  

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  If you are wrong, though, if seven years from now you are back to the Board and you want 25 million to replace this system wholesale, what impact would that have had on the NPV analysis?  Would you drop below an NPV of zero?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. TENCH:  I haven't done the calculation, but from the cost/benefit analysis that we provided and the pay-back within two years of the entire $26.5 million cost of the project, it is reasonable to assume that -- that those costs are much -- even if we were to have to reinvest in the entire system, it would be less.  Or it is still an efficient investment.  

MR. FAYE:  So it would still have a positive net present value?  

MR. TENCH:  Correct.  

MR. FAYE:  All right.  Looking at question 6 then.  This is on page 18 of your assessment.  It's at the bottom.  4.2.2 talks about participant costs.  And I had a few questions about the survey that you took to establish what those participant costs might be.  

The first one is, how many generators participated in the survey that you put out there?

MR. TENCH:  Six generators participated.

MR. FAYE:  And would two of them be OPG and Bruce Power?  

MR. TENCH:  Of the six, OPG, Bruce Power, Coral, GTAA, Brookfield, and Northland Power participated.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Of the entire population of generators that you hoped would respond, how many does six comprise, percentage-wise?  

MR. TENCH:  I believe it represents about 90 percent of the capacity, generation capacity, in Ontario.  

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  It is noted here that no marketers participated, and I just asked, do you have an explanation for that?  Are they not affected by this system?  Is that why they wouldn't be interested in the survey?  

MR. TENCH:  That is correct.  

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  And I wonder why marketers wouldn't be affected by a day-ahead system.  Doesn't it give them pricing signals?

MR. TENCH:  Is that a question?  

MR. FAYE:  Yes.  

MR. TENCH:  We spoke with marketers on several occasions about how this would interact with them, and they were very involved in the design of the overall project and still are.  

However, while they have an interest in the design of the project, their operation is not significantly affected by the change in the Ontario systems.

They participate in the current day-ahead commitment process that we have, and they will participate in the revised system that we implement a few years from now.  It is their estimate that there are no material costs from their perspective.  

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  My next question there was, if there is no marketers and only one NUG participant in the survey, how are you able to estimate costs for those parties?  But I think I just heard you say, there are no costs for the marketers.  Is that right?  


MR. TENCH:  By their own assessment, they believe that there are no costs.  


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So there is no costs in this analysis for marketers?  


MR. TENCH:  That's correct.  


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  How about for NUGs?  There is costs in here for NUGs, is there?  


MR. TENCH:  By NUGs I assume you're referring to non-utility generators?  


MR. FAYE:  Yes.  


MR. TENCH:  Who don't currently participate in the marketplace as dispatchable facilities, so as a result, it is their assessment that they do not have additional costs as well.  


MR. FAYE:  Is my understanding incorrect that some of those NUG contracts are coming up for -- well they're at the end of their contract life and will become dispatchable?  


MR. TENCH:  Hmm-hmm. 


MR. FAYE:  So they don't think that their conditions will change such that they would have to implement any kind of costs associated with day-ahead?  I think that is what you heard, right?  


MR. TENCH:  Well, you asked several questions there.  


Some NUGs have entered the marketplace and the assessment is that their costs are relatively small or consistent with the other generators.  


But the NUGs who are -- continue to operate as non-dispatchable facilities, there is no impact on their participation.  


MR. FAYE:  All right.  Well, I don't like to belabour this, but I think you just said that for those NUGs that will become dispatchable, they have no significant costs or their costs will be comparable to other generators.  


Did I mishear that?  


[Witness panel confers]

MR. TENCH:  Could you repeat your question, please?  


MR. FAYE:  I'm referring back to your answer just a moment ago and I think I heard you say that some NUGs have entered the marketplace and some are still under their contract and non-dispatchable.  


For those that have entered the marketplace or will enter it shortly, and become dispatchable, if I heard you right, I think you said that their costs are either negligible or no different from other generators.  


MR. TENCH:  Their costs on entering the marketplace have already taken place, essentially and they participate in the Ontario market currently.  


For those who become a part of the marketplace in the future, also would incur some costs to be part of the marketplace.  


So I am not quite sure I understand what your question is.  


MR. FAYE:  No.  I'm just having a little trouble with the -- what I thought I heard, and perhaps I didn't hear it right.  


NUGs either have costs or they don't have costs to participate in the day-ahead market.  If they don't have costs, that's fine.  They're not included in the participant cost analysis.  If they do have costs, I think what you said was that they're not significantly different from other generator costs.  But they're greater than zero, in other words.  


MR. TENCH:  Well...


[Witness panel confers]

MR. TENCH:  That's a level of detail I can't answer for you.  


MR. FAYE:  Okay, that's fine.  


Have other jurisdictions implemented a day-ahead market in North America?


MR. TENCH:  Yes. 


MR. FAYE:  Were you able to compare the participant costs there with your responses from the surveys or did you assume that the participants themselves went and fought out what their peers in other jurisdictions thought the costs might be?

MR. TENCH:  We had good response from participants in Ontario and consistency among the various people that responded to the survey and so we didn't feel that it was helpful to review other jurisdictions.  


Also, other jurisdictions have -- while they have day-ahead markets their structures are significantly different.  


So we felt that we had good estimates for the costs that were to be included in the cost benefit analysis.


MR. FAYE:  If I could turn you to page 19.  I think we have probably discussed some of these questions already, and I will just skim over them.  


That first question under part A, the factors of 1.5 for the high side estimate and 0.85 for the low side, what is that based on?  


MR. TENCH:  That was provided by participants in their cost estimates.  


Part of what we were looking for was a range from them of high and low estimates, and that is approximately what they provided.  


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Going to C.  This is just an interpretation problem that I have.  The third bullet on that page 19 says that 10 percent of generators did not complete the survey and the initial discussion on page 18 says that the IESO received survey responses from participants covering about 90 percent of the generating capacity.  


So taken together, you would say that 90 percent of generators supply 90 percent of generating capacity.  One of these statements can't be true with two whales in the market and a bunch of small ones.  It has to be Bruce Power and OPG that supply most of this capacity.  Right?  


MR. TENCH:  I would clarify the statement as:  Generators, representing 10 percent of the total generation capacity, did not respond to the survey.  


MR. FAYE:  Okay, good.  


Part (e) there, not knowing what a participant needs to do to participate in the market, I am assuming they have some sort of software and some sort of hardware to allow them to make bids and such the like -- can you give me a thumbnail sketch in a few minutes on what a participant's costs actually involve.  


MR. TENCH:  Typically the customer or the survey responses, the costs that they submitted were associated with the capital costs of their systems of the larger generators to interface with the IESO's systems.  


So principally the largest part of the costs were associated with those capital aspects.  


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  I would have thought that there would have been ongoing OM&A costs associated with those kinds of capital expenditures, but the table on page 19 says that it's zero.  


Any comment on that?  


MR. TENCH:  These were -- the participants in the survey, these were their estimates of their ongoing costs.  


MR. FAYE:  Turning to question 8 on page 6 of our prefiled questions.  This is referring to page 21 of the same report we have been discussing, and on that page there is a discussion of potential improvements from going to the new day-ahead system, and the second full paragraph there is reference made to non-quick start facilities and I don't know what those are.  


Can you just tell me what non-quick start means?  


MR. TENCH:  Perhaps the easiest way is to define what a quick start facility is and that is one that can be started and synchronized to the grid within five minutes.  


So non-quick start facilities are those facilities that take longer to start than five minutes.  And they typically -- they include the majority of the units in Ontario, that take time to start up and to synchronize, such as coal-fired units, gas-fired units, and so on.

MR. FAYE:  So what kind of a unit can start up in five minutes?

MR. TENCH:  Hydroelectric facilities can start up in those time frames.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So when you say that you expect, under the IPSP, that there will be more of these quick-start units, you're referring to Northern River Development, some of the Beck improvements, Saunders improvements, but not -- you are not talking about combustion turbines?

MR. TENCH:  As quick-start facilities?

MR. FAYE:  Yes.

MR. TENCH:  No.  We weren't anticipating -- although recent developments, some gas-fired facilities are approaching quick-start capability, no, we were not considering that in the cost/benefit analysis.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Question 9.  Let me just take a quick look to see if there is anything significant there.  This, I think, you're going to be able to answer quickly, because it probably relates to my ignorance on the subject.

My understanding of how generators get paid is, everybody bids in, you establish a queue for dispatch, and then they get the market-clearing price.  It doesn't matter what they bid.  They get the market-clearing price.  Is that correct, or am I misunderstanding it?

MR. TENCH:  The generators are paid -- well, I'm sorry, let me back up.  There is an important distinction here.  The actual dispatch of facilities, what level they need to operate at any point in time, is determined from a, what we call a constrained algorithm, which includes locational prices. So the actual physical dispatch of facilities is based on locational pricing within Ontario.

However, the settlement of the outputs of those units that are dispatched is not based on locational pricing.  It is based on uniform price throughout the province.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So you take into account transmission constraints?  Is that your main locational concern?

MR. TENCH:  That's the largest.

MR. FAYE:  And you apply some sort of adder to account for the fact that there may not be transmission capacity to get a particular generator's output into the grid, or there may be insufficient.  And that is the idea of locational pricing?

MR. TENCH:  At a very high level, yes.

MR. FAYE:  That's as far as I can get.  I can't get any lower.  Okay.  I understand that now, thanks.

MR. ZACHER:  I don't want to cut you off entirely, but I am wondering if this is getting into a level of detail that stretches beyond the relevancy of this proceeding.  This is clearly a lot of -- at least the questions you have under your question 9, I guess, get into a lot of the analysis that was the subject of months and months of cost/benefit analysis and stakeholdering through the engagement process.

MR. FAYE:  Well, with respect, the evidence is to be tested, isn't it?  The fact that Energy Probe didn't participate doesn't disqualify it from asking questions now, does it?

MR. ZACHER:  At a high level, I think, Mr. Faye.  But not at the level that was the subject of the months and months of work on this.

So Energy Probe, like every other stakeholder, had an opportunity to participate, and if they didn't participate, we're not going to rehash the months and months that went into that process.

If you want to ask -- your questions to date, I think, have been -- have been okay.  They have dealt with the costs/benefits at a high level.  But these questions are very, very detailed.

MR. FAYE:  So you would say that my last question, which asks about market-clearing prices, how generators are compensated, that is a detailed question?  What I am trying to get here is, you have used this analysis for your efficiency calculations.  Now, if there is flaws in that analysis, you know, the efficiency calculations are not going to be -- not going to be true.

MR. ZACHER:  Well, I think that you have, as part of the proceedings, you have the cost/benefit analysis, and that provides the analysis of the net present values of various options.  And Mr. Tench has explained, in a general way, why the day-ahead mechanism that was selected is a process that will pay back the costs over a period of two years.  But to get into it at much more detail is just not appropriate at this stage.

MR. FAYE:  So generator locational pricing, a general question about what that is, that is not an appropriate question, Mr. Zacher?  I am just trying to determine which of these questions you would like me just to skip.

MR. ZACHER:  Not for a fees case.

MR. FAYE:  Hmm?

MR. ZACHER:  I said, it is not relevant for a fees case.  If you want to ask a few more questions and keep it at a general level, that's fine.  But if we go through these questions in the level of detail that you've scripted them, we're going to be here for a few hours rehashing what has already been done and which your client had an opportunity to participate in and chose not to.

MR. FAYE:  My client, I don't think signed a waiver saying it wouldn't ask any questions about it by not participating in a stakeholder conference.

MR. MILLAR:  Gentlemen, maybe we can do this.  Mr. Faye, you can ask your questions, I guess.  If there are refusals, there are refusals.  And if you -- you can always choose to bring a motion, I suppose, if you are not satisfied with that.  But I am not sure we will resolve this going back and forth.

I also note it is about quarter to 1:00 now.  I take it we still have other areas after this, so we are not likely to finish before lunch, unless I am mistaken.

MR. FAYE:  No.  Actually, I am almost there.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, we still have smart meters to go through.  Did you have smart meters questions?

MR. FAYE:  No, we don't have any.

MR. MILLAR:  And you, Mr. Wightman?

MR. WIGHTMAN:  Let me check.  Let me check.  Just one.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Let's see if we can plough through.  If we can finish by one o'clock or so, that is preferable to breaking for lunch and coming back for ten minutes, so why don't I let you keep going, Mr. Faye.

MR. FAYE:  All right.  I am going to refer you to (c) of our question 9.  And rather than read it to you, perhaps you could just respond to it, and maybe that will save some time.

MR. TENCH:  Your question relates to imports and exports in the province.  And in the analysis, the less expensive generation in imports are identified after the fact, when the total costs of the commitment -- at the committed generation is available.

So when commitments are made in the day-ahead commitment process, and that is our current process, they are done so without complete cost information from the generators.  That --

MR. FAYE:  And so that's why you can't take advantage of just dispatching them when they're already online?

MR. TENCH:  That's correct.

MR. FAYE:  Good.

MR. TENCH:  That's one of the things that has changed in the EDAC.

MR. FAYE:  Looking at (d), there's an analysis in there that talks about overcommitted generation and a calculation of how much overcommitted generation the IESO saw over a period of time.

And I am trying to reconcile with the statement that if the present DACP can't identify overcommitted generation while it is happening, how do you then go back and produce an analysis of what that was?

MR. TENCH:  After the fact.

MR. FAYE:  So you can see it after the fact.

MR. TENCH:  Yes.

MR. FAYE:  But you can't see it while it is happening.  Okay.

MR. TENCH:  As the additional information is not available to the process.

MR. FAYE:  And parties should be a fairly simple general question.  I am not looking for very great detail on this.  Why do over-commitments occur?  Is it errors in predicting load curve?

MR. TENCH:  It can be, but the larger reason for the over-commitment is the fact that the startup costs and so on associated with those generators that are not quick-start generators is not available to the process to be able to optimize over the 24-hour period.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  And then the second part of that question, it appears to occur more in off-peak periods of the year than on-peak.  Can you give me an idea of why that occurs?

MR. TENCH:  Usually it occurs off-peak as a result -- or as a consequence of the offer from the generators in those off-peak periods.  Generally, their offers are lower-priced in those periods and, therefore, they're economic to operate even without their startup costs.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  That makes sense.

And my last question on -- are we doing capital spending here, Mr. Millar, or was that a second...?

MR. MILLAR:  No, I think you can do it.

MR. FAYE:  Do it?  Okay.  I will finish my last question then.

This has to do with interest expense and the retirement of IESO debt.  From my reading of it, you've got a whole bunch of debt set with Ontario Hydro Financial Corporation that's coming due, and you are going to pay that down to a level from $78.2 million to $21 million over the years between 2009 to 2011.

What I can't find is where you get the money to do that from.  I wonder if you can just point me, in the financials, to where you have an accumulated surplus that would give you $57 million to pay the debt off.

MR. LEONARD:  Mr. Faye, the difference in what you are looking at, one is you're looking at -- in that appendix 1, page 42, you are looking at our statement of operations and accumulated surplus.

MR. FAYE:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. LEONARD:  Whereas the repayment of debt would be based on our cash flows.

So turning to page 44 of that same exhibit, that provides, in detail, what our expected cash flows are over the planning period.  And there's many different items that go into it, but it's, suffice to say that a break even -- if we run no operating surplus or deficit and break even, as we were planning in the years, that doesn't necessarily mean we're cash flow neutral. 

The business may generate operating cash.  And just to give you an example, on page 44, in taking you even to 2011 -- it is the easiest one, furthest to the right.

The first number down on that column is 21.5, the amortization figure.  So that is what would flow through our usage fee in 2011.

But if I take you down to the two, -- seventh figure from the bottom on that same column, our plan only sees us spending -- actually outlaying $12 million in cash for capital expenditures.

MR. FAYE:  Leaving the 15 to pay down?

MR. LEONARD:  Leaving the difference of those, roughly 10.95 million for repayment of debt, all things being equally, which they're not, so operationally -- so our operating results, by definition, aren't necessarily our cash flow results, and the statement of cash flows provides that detail over the planning period.

MR. FAYE:  So indulging my ignorance of accounting stuff, too, is amortization and depreciation expense the same thing, essentially?

MR. LEONARD:  Yes.

MR. FAYE:  And my understanding of depreciation is it's a sinking fund to pay for capital expenditures in the future; is that right, too?

MR. LEONARD:  No.

MR. FAYE:  It's not?

MR. LEONARD:  No.  It is the after-the-fact recognition of what you have spent previously on capital initiatives.  So if you spent ten dollars on a computer that you thought was going to last four years in year 1, if you finished it -- I'll say if you bought it the first day of the year in year 1, you would have $10 million of cash out the door, but your amortization would only be 2.5, two-and-a-half, each year for those four years.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So it isn't -- you are not relying on it to replace that piece of equipment at the end of its life?

MR. LEONARD:  No.

MR. FAYE:  It is simply recognizing the value of it as you go along?

MR. LEONARD:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. FAYE:  Okay, thank you.  That's all my questions.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you, Mr. Faye.  I think, with the court reporter's indulgence, we will try to finish up by lunch.

So, Mr. Caputo, why don't I turn it over to you?  If it is taking too long, we will obviously have to stop.
Issue 5:  Smart metering initiative

Questions by Mr. Caputo:


MR. CAPUTO:  Okay.  This set of questions pertains to the smart metering initiative.

Now, the evidence related to these questions is in pages 48 and 49 of the business plan.  That's Exhibit B, tab 1, schedule 1, and also the section on smart metering.  That's in Exhibit B, tab 6, schedule 1.

Now, the evidence on pages 48 and 49 of the business plan indicates that the -- that smart metering costs will be recovered through a separate regulatory mechanism, which will be independent of the IESO's current fee structure and of the revenues derived from the wholesale market.

The evidence also indicates that the IESO will be developing a fee proposal later this fall, meaning the fall of 2008, in respect to its role as the smart metering entity, at which time smart metering revenues and costs will be confirmed and the current consolidated financial projections updated.

Now, Board Staff would like to get a better understanding of the IESO's processes for dealing with smart metering-related revenues and expenses, and the status of the fee proposal and the next steps.

Now, the first question related to smart metering is:  Please explain the difference between the funding -- between funding smart metering-related costs using the IESO cash and IESO corporate credit facility, and the rationale for using each.

MR. LEONARD:  Currently, the IESO has debt outstanding of $78.2 million with the Ontario Electricity Financial Corporation.  It comes due May 1st of 2009.

That debt has a hold harmless clause in it, so to repay it early would cost the IESO more money than, we believe, the benefit of repaying it early.

Accordingly -- and given the fact that we're actually building up cash, and, as outlined in the plan, when we refinance that 78.2 million of debt, the businesses -- we're not going to need that full amount.  So we are actually building up cash right now that we'll ultimately use to repay a portion of that debt.

So rather than using -- rather than taking that cash, which I will say is in the corporate, IESO corporate, and investing that in something and having the smart metering entity side of the IESO going out and borrowing the money at a higher rate, what we've done is we have used the IESO corporate cash in a smart metering initiative and have charged interest at the prevailing rates of what smart metering would have paid.

And once we repay that debt with OEFC, or Ontario Electricity Financing Corporation, the costs associated with borrowings, whether it be for smart metering or for the corporate needs, will just be charged directly to that corresponding area of the business.

MR. CAPUTO:  So, overall, then, this IESO cash account, why does there have to be two different -- two different funding mechanisms?

MR. LEONARD:  I am not sure I understand your question.  Two different funding mechanisms for what?

MR. CAPUTO:  Well, I think the evidence refers to IESO cash and also to the IESO corporate credit facility.  I don't quite understand.  What is the difference?

MR. LEONARD:  The difference is, right now, the IESO has debt of $78.2 million outstanding.  We have a credit facility, but we have drawn nothing on it.  At the same time, we have cash.

So rather than going out and borrowing the money for smart metering, we're using the cash that we have, and, because the costs associated with smart metering certainly need to be segregated and costed accordingly, they shouldn't get the use of the IESO cash for free, because that would then be -- cause -- reflective of subsidization between those people paying our usage fee versus those that would ultimately pay the smart meter charges.

So as long as we have cash and we can't use that cash to repay debt, we're using it for smart metering and charging accordingly, internally.

MR. CAPUTO:  There would be an interest charge for that?

MR. LEONARD:  Yes.  On May 1st, when we can repay that OEFC debt, and we have a credit facility where we can pay down and borrow as we need, at that point in time is when smart metering will use the credit facility.

MR. CAPUTO:  Okay.  Well, thanks for that.

Now, has the IESO developed the fee proposal for the smart metering entity as of yet?

MR. INGMAN:  If it's okay with you, Mr. Caputo, it might be helpful if I give some context to your questions.

MR. CAPUTO:  Sure.

MR. INGMAN:  Hopefully I may answer them along the way.  But what I think is important is to explain that when the IESO originally filed its fee submission for 2009, the expectation was that it would make its application for what we call the smart meter charge, the SMC - I will try not to use that acronym, but if I do, that's what I mean - in the fall of 2008.  And that's as you pointed out in your question.

Since that time, two significant things have transpired.  One is the EDA and Ministry have been in discussions regarding changes to the government structure of the smart metering entity, which we expect will result in a transition of the governance model that will result in LDCs having a stronger or majority voice in that new governance structure.  And it would vary from that that had been described in the current LDC SME agreement.

In support of this, the IESO is working with senior representatives from the LDCs to coordinate the transition to any new structure that might transpire and be established as a result of those discussions.  The timing for the finalization of those discussions is not known at this time.

The second thing that has transpired is, the Minister, in his response to IESO's fee submission filing -- actually, the filing of our business plan -- noted, regarding smart metering, that he wanted to -- the IESO to submit a detailed implementation plan and schedule for the integration of, as he describes, of local distribution systems into the MDMR prior to us filing that application for the smart metering charge.  So he had specifically requested that we do that before filing such an application.  

So the -- in regards to that, the IESO is in the process of developing that detailed implementation plan, based on input and projections from our LDCs.  

Although input has been received from well over half of the LDCs, some of these submissions have missing information or incomplete, and we still have a significant number of LDC input still to come in.  We have, obviously, a large number of LDCs in Ontario.  

So determining when we would submit the detailed implementation plan to the Minister is obviously difficult at this time, due to the amount of outstanding information that is unavailable to us at the time.

So given these two factors, and since we're in a transition period, we don't believe it is appropriate to move forward with our smart metering charge application at this time.

And given that, I can answer any specific questions, Mr. Caputo.  

MR. CAPUTO:  Well, I guess originally it was intended to do it last fall.  So what sort of a tentative or target date do you have now?  

MR. INGMAN:  As I explained, those two factors are causing it to be difficult to determine that.  We're not quite sure how the discussions between the Ministry and the LDCs will transpire and when that might conclude.

We have a little bit more control, in terms of the implementation plan, but as I explained now, we're still waiting for information to come in.  

The implementation plan deals with both the MDMR implementation, as well as implementation of smart meters and the time-of-use rates associated with those, and we are very dependent upon LDC input for that.  

Our hope, obviously, is we receive that information as soon as possible, and obviously are looking to resolve and submit that implementation plan at the earliest possible time, but it is very difficult to determine when.  

MR. CAPUTO:  Considering all of that, what would be your expectation then?  In the next few months, or longer than that?  

MR. INGMAN:  We would hope in the next few months, but obviously we have to see how these transpire.  

MR. CAPUTO:  Okay.  Now, as far as -- there is mention of a separate regulatory mechanism.  What is the status of developing a separate regulatory mechanism?  

MR. INGMAN:  The regulatory mechanism we described is the smart meter charge application itself.  

MR. CAPUTO:  Okay. 

MR. INGMAN:  And obviously, as I noted in my preamble, because of the status of those two major factors, we haven't advanced that far in that application.  But we have started to talk about some high-level components of that.

MR. CAPUTO:  So your reference to a separate regulatory mechanism and the fee proposal, that is the same thing; is that right?  

MR. INGMAN:  Yes.  The only other component of that is, we do need to apply for a -- we need to complete our application for the smart metering entity licence as well.  That is the other component.  

MR. ZACHER:  Sorry, Mr. Caputo, just to clarify, in the reference in the business plan to this separate regulatory mechanism, I think at one point in time it was anticipated that there might actually be a regulation that was going to be passed that would prescribe what the formula was going to be for recovery of a fee.  

So that hasn't happened, but that's, you know, that's for the government to decide.  But if that were not to happen, then an application to recover the fee, pursuant to a design that the IESO would prepare, is another option.  

MR. CAPUTO:  Okay.  Well, thanks for that, Mr. Zacher.

Now, assuming that this fee proposal would be developed in the next few months, as you expect it might, when would the IESO submit its fee submission to the Board?

MR. INGMAN:  Obviously, the next components of that would be to determine a rate design to calculate the costs that would need to be recovered for both initial startup and ongoing operation of the MDMR.  

And obviously, whatever time it might take to develop those, it's difficult to give you a sense, but another few months after that point.  

MR. CAPUTO:  Well, thank you very much for those answers.  That is the last of my questions.  

MR. MILLAR:  Thanks, Mr. Caputo.

Mr. Wightman, did you have anything more?  

MR. WIGHTMAN:  Just a couple --

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Go ahead.  

MR. WIGHTMAN:  -- if I might.  
Issue 4:  Stakeholdering Process

Questions by Mr. Wightman:


MR. WIGHTMAN:  First of all, I think stakeholdering was one of the issues on the list, and I just had a couple of little questions on it.  

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  Let's just get rid of the last of our questions.  

MR. WIGHTMAN:  Yes.  And I would just like to ask you what I asked you in question 4(b) first.  And I don't think you need to turn it up.  But from what I read about your stakeholder engagement plan, there is three steps.  The first one is communicating, the second one is getting stakeholder input, and the third one is getting their support or selling or whatever.  

Just, so the question was, basically, how important is the second step to the IESO, and how important has it been, and has it resulted in changes, or is it...?

MR. INGMAN:  I believe the context of your question was around the business planning?  

MR. WIGHTMAN:  Yes.  

MR. INGMAN:  So obviously, this is the fourth consecutive year that we have used a stakeholdering engagement plan to stakeholder the IESO's business plan.  Obviously, stakeholder input continues to be very important through that process.

Such input is gathered year after year.  So in a particular year we will present the stakeholder engagement plan for the business plan to stakeholders primarily through the Stakeholder Advisory Committee, where Mr. Sergejewich typically makes a presentation of the major elements, objectives, et cetera, of the plan.  

And this year, for instance, we received three specific written comments on the plan, and those have been formally posted, as per our stakeholder engagement process, have been posted and commented and responded to by the IESO.  

Some of those may not have made it into the current years, but are typically considered for future years.  So we have incorporated, for instance, in our 2009 to 2011 business plan submissions and suggestions that we received in previous years.  

So it is sort of an ongoing, and because, depending on the ability and the appropriateness of the IESO, incorporating comments as it receives in the current year or subsequent submissions is considered.  So it is sort of an ongoing process. 

MR. WIGHTMAN:  So you have seen examples where your first communication with stakeholders, step 1, that step 2 resulted in a material change in whatever you were going to do?  

MR. INGMAN:  We have had -- I am not sure what you would describe as a material change.  Some of them are just clarifications or suggesting emphasis in different areas, and those have been reflected in future business plans.

MR. WIGHTMAN:  Oh, okay.  No, I was just trying to get at whether sometimes when you communicated something with them and you got some stakeholder feedback, you might have made some changes to your original communication.

MR. INGMAN:  In terms of the -- typically, the changes have been made to maybe elements of the write-up and emphasis.  I'm not sure if you are looking for anything more material than that.

MR. WIGHTMAN:  No, no, I just wanted to get a sense of how useful that -- 

MR. INGMAN:  It's been very useful. 

MR. WIGHTMAN:  -- that's been. 

Secondly, I didn't put this down, but I noticed in your B -- I didn't pre-file it, and I apologize for that -- B-3, tab 3, S-1, Appendix D, which is a September 5th briefing to the board of directors of IESO -- 

MR. INGMAN:  Could you just...

MR. WIGHTMAN:  B-3, tab 3, schedule 1, Appendix D.

MR. INGMAN:  That would be the IESO board of directors' September 5th Stakeholder Advisory Committee briefing?

MR. WIGHTMAN:  Yes.  

MR. INGMAN:  Yes, I have that.  

MR. WIGHTMAN:  And there is a reference on the first page, I believe, to actionable -- something actionable -- but that was going to be done, and I believe it was a request to the Ministry or something like that for status report.  That doesn't matter.

But anyhow, apparently that action wasn't undertaken because of a committee pre-meeting.

MR. INGMAN:  I can't confirm that.  

MR. WIGHTMAN:  Oh, well, hold on a second.  I will pull it up for you.  Here we go.  Yes, it is on the front page.  I was just -- and it is under (a), "review of action items".

And it just -- I just wondered what a committee pre-meeting was, if it involved the whole committee.  I mean...

MR. INGMAN:  Two seconds.  

[Witness panel confers]


MR. TENCH:  Perhaps I can answer that question.

Often the Stakeholder Advisory Committee, the full committee, will meet prior to the open session to discuss matters of interest to the committee.  And I believe, in this case, that was the pre-meeting referred to.  

MR. WIGHTMAN:  So it was the full committee?  

MR. TENCH:  Yes.  

MR. WIGHTMAN:  Okay.  Just one more on this, and I think it was my question A.  And I was reading your procedures or your governance thing, and I just wondered if you could get a quorum with one person and a bunch of proxies.

MR. INGMAN:  Not in reality, no.  Although the SAC members can proxy their votes, unlike the technical panel, for example, the only time voting used, really, is to select a Chair, Vice Chair, establish working groups and some procedural matters.  In all other matters, it is really taking positions from the Stakeholder Advisory Council members, and all of those positions are used and presented to the IESO board of directors in their decision-making.

So really, you are looking at a very small subset of things that are truly voted on.  And so I think, in substantive fact, no, you are not going to get the situation you described.  

MR. WIGHTMAN:  Okay.  Then I just have a couple of more little things.  One is on smart metering.  It was my question 5.  And it just basically said, is there -- can you confirm that there is no chance that any costs associated with this initiative will be materially subsidized.  And I've used the word "materially" because I think there is a little bit of overhead.  You say it is too small.  But is that basically true?  

MR. INGMAN:  I will leave that to Mr. Leonard to answer. 

MR. LEONARD:  Yes.  We can confirm that to be true. 

MR. WIGHTMAN:  Okay.  And with your indulgence I have two little ones that I had marked "ask at break", and they go back.  If I could just go back quickly.  

You talk about an energy-forward market, and I just read that stuff pretty quickly, because I didn't know how much we were going to get into it here.

Just for my own understanding, is that a forward market where it is bilateral and there is counter-party risk, or is it really more like a futures market, where there would be a central settlement kind of thing?  

MR. TENCH:  Several models were being considered.  The stakeholders had an interest in several different areas, which included both the options you described.  

However, the model that the -- the IESO, you may recall, did develop an energy-forward market as part of the initial market implementation.  But the implementation was not -- was deferred.  

That particular energy-forward market is fairly simple in design, and it is simply -- provides a clearing price, hourly day-ahead, based on bids and offers to that energy-forward market.  So it is a financial market.

MR. WIGHTMAN:  It's a financial market, but would there -- would two parties be dealing directly with each other?

MR. TENCH:  No.  It's a clearing-price market. 

MR. WIGHTMAN:  Okay.  And the last one -- and I apologize for this, I scribbled it down.  On your capital expenditures, your update that you just provided last night, there was an item called "application changes", and it's for $700,000, and that was not in your business plan for 2008 as an entry, if you take -- I just wondered what "application changes" are.  

Again, if you look at your -- and you can compare that, again, with your projected capital spending in your business plan for 2008.  

MR. LEONARD:  Mr. Wightman, what those are, are numerous small changes to existing software applications that we have in place, whether it be our energy management system, our financial system, anything that is already in place.  And they represent small -- small-dollar projects for minor changes to the functionality.

And where they would have been included in the 2008 capital-expenditure projection would have been within that -- on page 19 of that schedule, the other capital initiatives.  

MR. WIGHTMAN:  Okay.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.  

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Wightman.

Mr. Faye, did you have anything more?  

MR. FAYE:  No, we don't have any more questions, thank you. 

MR. MILLAR:  Does anyone else have any additional questions?  

Seeing no hands, I think that concludes our Technical Conference.  Thank you very much to the parties, the applicant, the witnesses and, in particular, the court reporter for sitting for so long.  

We are adjourned.  

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 1:15 p.m.
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